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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone, to this joint hearing of the Committee on

          4  Public Safety, the Committee on Civil Rights and the

          5  Committee on Immigration.

          6                 Today we look at the very serious

          7  issue of hate crimes, which despite the best efforts

          8  of our law enforcement, has continued to plague our

          9  City. In fact, we've seen a recent increase.

         10                 Speaker Quinn will be here shortly

         11  and she will also be making a statement. She just

         12  announced an upcoming day against hate, and we

         13  encourage support for her resolution.

         14                 I would like to acknowledge, of

         15  course, my Co-chairs Larry Seabrook and Kendall

         16  Stewart, for their assistance, and my colleagues on

         17  the Council here with us, Chair Addabbo, Dan

         18  Garodnick, Jimmy Oddo, Matthew Eugene. And today

         19  we're here again to do oversight for our Hate Crimes

         20  Division in the Police Department, also to look at

         21  what we can do as a Legislature to give them the

         22  tools that they need to better prosecute hate

         23  crimes.

         24                 Hate crimes cost the City a great

         25  deal from dollars spent in cleaning up vandalized
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          2  property to the psychological toll on individuals in

          3  communities. We can see the cost in the City's

          4  recent spade of hate crime. One year ago Michael

          5  Sandy lost his life and his attackers were just

          6  convicted, which is good news. And shortly

          7  thereafter a Pakistani immigrant was brutalized by

          8  teens yelling anti-Muslim statements. This past

          9  September in Brooklyn Heights, swastikas and hateful

         10  messages targeting Jews were spraypainted on

         11  buildings and vehicles, and leaflets containing

         12  savage epithets were found. In early October, a

         13  hangman's noose was found attached to the office

         14  door of an African-American Professor at Columbia.

         15                 In addition, in recent weeks there

         16  have been several other incidents involving school

         17  property, vandalized with the "N" word, swastikas,

         18  anti-Semitic phrases. In fact, 22 swastikas were

         19  found at Murray Bergtraum High School.

         20                 In an effort to combat this, I'm

         21  introducing a resolution jointly with Council Member

         22  Robert Jackson, which will call on the State

         23  Assembly to pass a bill which was just passed by the

         24  State Senate which would equate the hanging of a

         25  noose with the burning of a cross or a swastika.
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          2  Right now those latter two are felonies, but the

          3  noose isn't, and there doesn't seem to be a reason

          4  for any of us at the City Council that those three

          5  shouldn't be equated and punishable by more severe

          6  jail times.

          7                 We look forward to hearing from the

          8  NYPD's Hate Crimes Task Force led by Inspector

          9  Osgood, who is here today. By all accounts they're

         10  doing an excellent job and they need to be commended

         11  for taking on these very difficult and sensitive

         12  cases. We're going to look at trends in hate crimes

         13  and perhaps get some answers to what is happening

         14  recently with this perceived uptick in these

         15  matters.

         16                 So, with that, let me turn it over to

         17  my Chair, Co-Chair Larry Seabrook, and hear some

         18  words from him.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         20  much, Chair Vallone, and good morning.

         21                 My name is Larry Seabrook, and I

         22  chair the New York City Council Committee on Civil

         23  Rights. I'd like to begin by acknowledging my

         24  co-chairs today, Peter Vallone, Jr., and Kendall

         25  Stewart, and by thanking them for their efforts in
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          2  combatting hate crimes in New York City.

          3                 Generally speaking, hate crimes are

          4  defined as criminal acts against a person or

          5  property based on the subjects real or perceived

          6  race, religion, national origin, ethnicity, sexual

          7  orientation, disability or gender.

          8                 As we have seen over the past several

          9  years, and indeed over the past several weeks, hate

         10  crimes are very much a relevant issue in our City.

         11                 In 2006 alone, we're the home to 256

         12  such offenses. Two-hundred and fifty-six is an

         13  astounding number, if you consider the fact that it

         14  is not just 256 victims who are affected, but the

         15  communities to which they belong, as well.

         16                 Each solitary act, whether physical

         17  or verbal, tells members of that community that they

         18  are not welcome here. It creates tension and

         19  distrust within the greatest society. Black, white,

         20  gay, straight, Jewish, Muslim, Christian, a hate

         21  crime committed against one group is a hate crime

         22  against all groups.

         23                 Though this hearing was planned well

         24  in advance, its timing is almost tragically

         25  appropriate at the month in which we witnessed at
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          2  least eight cases of hate speech in New York City,

          3  whether in the form of a noose, a swastika, or much

          4  vile "N" word. Indeed, just five days ago, two

          5  African-American Parks Department employees found

          6  nooses hanging in their lockers. If ever there was a

          7  time to examine the City's response to hate crimes,

          8  this is it.

          9                 As Chair of the Committee on Civil

         10  Rights, I'm looking forward to hear today's

         11  testimony, and to taking a closer look at the state

         12  of hate crimes in our City.

         13                 I'd like to thank everyone for coming

         14  today and for joining this exceedingly important

         15  dialogue. I would now like to give the floor to my

         16  distinguished colleague, the Chair of the Committee

         17  on Immigration, Dr. Kendall Stewart.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good morning. My

         19  name is Kendall Stewart, and I am the Chair of the

         20  Immigration Committee. I would like to thank the

         21  Speaker and my Co-Chairs, Peter Vallone, Jr., of the

         22  Public Safety Committee, and Larry Seabrook of the

         23  Civil Rights Committee for convening this hearing

         24  today on the issue of hate crimes in New York City.

         25                 Hate crimes do more than threaten the
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          2  safety and welfare of all citizens. These crimes

          3  inflict immeasurable, physical and emotional damage

          4  on victims and tear at the fabric of free society.

          5                 Crimes motivated by hatred toward

          6  particular groups because of their national origin,

          7  sexual orientation, race, religion or other

          8  characteristics, not only harm individual victims,

          9  but also send a potent message of discrimination and

         10  bigotry to all members of the group to which the

         11  victim belongs.

         12                 Hate crimes have a devastating impact

         13  on entire communities. These crimes exacerbate

         14  tension, deepen resentments, cause reprisal and

         15  escalate violence.

         16                 There is reluctance among immigrant

         17  communities, in particular, to reach out to law

         18  enforcement authorities when they are victims of

         19  hate crimes.

         20                 Major obstacles that lend to this

         21  unwillingness, to contact the police include fear

         22  that contact of police could lead to deportation, to

         23  also imported distrust of the police, and the

         24  judicial system carried over from countries of

         25  origin, language and communication barriers and also
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          2  the cultural misunderstandings.

          3                 I look forward to today's testimony

          4  and learning how the existent barriers between

          5  immigrant communities and law enforcement which

          6  prevent the reporting of hate crimes are being

          7  addressed by the NYPD.

          8                 I would like to thank my co-chairs

          9  and the Speaker for holding this critical hearing.

         10  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, the

         12  Speaker isn't here yet. I'm sure she'll make a

         13  statement when she does get here.

         14                 The NYPD has been very patient and so

         15  we'll start. We have a panel which consists of

         16  Deputy Inspector Michael Osgood, the Commanding

         17  Officer of the NYPD's Hate Crime Task Force; Sue

         18  Petito, also a Commissioner at the Police

         19  Department, and I believe that's Cliff Mulqueen?

         20  Okay, the Deputy Commissioner and General Counsel to

         21  the Commission on Human Rights, who I believe will

         22  be available for answering questions but doesn't

         23  have any prepared testimony.

         24                 So, Deputy Inspector Osgood, thank

         25  you for joining us today.  Thank you for the work
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          2  you guys do every day and I look forward to hearing

          3  your testimony.

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Good

          5  morning, Speaker Quinn, Chairman Vallone, Chairman

          6  Seabrook, Chairman Stewart and members of the

          7  Council.

          8                 I am Deputy Inspector Mike Osgood,

          9  Commanding Officer of the NYPD's Hate Crime Task

         10  Force. On behalf of Police Commissioner Raymond

         11  Kelly, I would like to thank you for this

         12  opportunity to discuss hate crimes and the Hate

         13  Crime Task Force.

         14                 I have been with the Hate Crime Task

         15  Force for five years. Three years as the Assistant

         16  Commander, two years as its commander. During that

         17  five years, I have led and managed the investigation

         18  of the close to 1,500 Hate Crime investigations.

         19                 I will address several areas,

         20  including this unit's history, current procedures,

         21  training within the Police Department regarding hate

         22  crimes, outreach efforts with various community and

         23  civic groups, stats regarding the commission of hate

         24  crimes within the City, and, of course, I will be

         25  available to answer any questions you may have.
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          2                 First, I will begin by briefly

          3  describing the history of the Hate Crime Task Force.

          4                 In December of 1980, the Department

          5  created a Bias Incident Investigation Unit, the

          6  predecessor of today's Hate Crime Task Force, with

          7  the purpose of investigating unlawful acts committed

          8  against a person, group or place which were

          9  motivated by a victim's race, religion or ethnicity.

         10                 In July of 1985, the Unit's

         11  jurisdiction was expanded to include unlawful acts

         12  motivated by a victim's sexual orientation. Then in

         13  April of 1993, the Police Department further

         14  expanded its definition of bias incidents to include

         15  those motivated by a victim's disability.

         16                 For the purpose of inclusion as a

         17  bias incident, the Department has defined disability

         18  as the possession or perceived possession by a

         19  person of a physical, medical, mental or

         20  psychological impairment, or a history or record of

         21  such impairment.

         22                 In April of 2000, the Bias Incident

         23  Investigation Unit was renamed the Hate Crime Task

         24  Force. Later that year, New York State's enactment

         25  of the Hate Crimes Act of 2000 brought welcome
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          2  attention to those reprehensible types of criminal

          3  acts, and along with the attention, significantly

          4  enhanced penalties for those convicted of hate

          5  crimes within its scope.

          6                 This Act characterizes a large number

          7  of specified offenses as hate crimes if they are

          8  committed in whole or substantial part because of a

          9  belief or perception regarding an individual race,

         10  color, national origin, ancestry, gender, religion,

         11  religious practice, age, disability or sexual

         12  orientation. Those are the ten protected classes in

         13  the State of New York.

         14                 At the time the law became effective,

         15  we did not include age and gender among our

         16  categories of hate crime, but in response to the

         17  passage of the law, in early 2001, the Police

         18  Department expanded its definition of bias incident

         19  to specifically include both age and gender of

         20  qualifying motivating factors.

         21                 It had been the policy of the Hate

         22  Crime Task Force, and before that of the Bias

         23  Incident Investigation Unit to investigate incidents

         24  involving bisexual or transgendered victims as bias

         25  incidents ever since sexual orientation had been
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          2  added to the definition of bias incidents. And in

          3  2001, this policy was formalized by the Department

          4  when these terms were specifically added to the

          5  definition of bias incident. Since these last

          6  additions in 2001, the NYPD's definition of bias

          7  incident has remained constant.

          8                 The mission of the Hate Crime Task

          9  Force can be clearly stated. We are responsible for

         10  the criminal investigation and apprehension of

         11  persons who have committed hate crimes. The policies

         12  and procedures that govern the Hate Crime Task Force

         13  are unique within the Police Department. With any

         14  organizational structure of the Police Department,

         15  the Hate Crime Task Force reports directly to the

         16  Chief of Detectives, facilitating direct contact

         17  between myself and top department officials. All

         18  investigations undertaken by the Task Force were

         19  treated as major cases, receiving the full support

         20  of any and all resources within the Department in

         21  order to assist in the investigation.

         22                 There are several avenues to which an

         23  investigation may be commenced by the Hate Crimes

         24  Task Force. The most common way is to a referral by

         25  a captain on patrol who has been alerted to a

                                                            16

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  powerful bias incident initiated by a call to 9-1-1

          3  or by a complainant made directly to a local

          4  precinct.

          5                 Officers respond to investigate the

          6  crime, and ultimately the responding capital make

          7  the initial notification to the Hate Crime Task

          8  Force and will follow-up in a written report

          9  outlining what steps were taken at the scene.

         10                 Sometimes this initial investigation

         11  into a crime does not reveal the element of a bias

         12  that may have been a motivating factor. Detectives

         13  at the precinct level who follow up on the initial

         14  investigation may thereafter determine that the

         15  incident does constitute a possible bias incident.

         16  At this point, these detectives will contact the

         17  Hate Crime Task Force and our investigation will

         18  begin.

         19                 There are several less common avenues

         20  that nonetheless remain open for the reporting of

         21  hate crimes to this unit. In the event that a

         22  criminal matter reaches the District Attorney's

         23  Office in any of the five boroughs, and the

         24  Assistant handling the case identifies a possible

         25  bias incident, that ADA may contact the Hate Crime
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          2  Task Force and an investigation will be commenced.

          3                 Advocacy groups are sometimes first

          4  to have contact with victims of hate crimes. In

          5  these cases, the advocacy group may reach out to the

          6  Hate Crime Task Force directly to request that an

          7  investigation be undertaken. As another option,

          8  either advocacy groups or hate crime victims

          9  themselves may call 3-1-1, we get multiple 3-1-1

         10  calls each week, which will in turn connect them to

         11  the Hate Crime Task Force.

         12                 Once a possible bias incident comes

         13  to the attention of the task force, the detective

         14  within the unit is assigned to the case, and as the

         15  need arises, the resources of the entire Task Force,

         16  the entire Detective Bureau, indeed the entire

         17  Department, are made available to assist in the

         18  investigation.

         19                 As the Commanding Officer of the Hate

         20  Crime Task Force, I oversee each of these

         21  investigations, and I am ultimately responsible for

         22  ensuring that a possible bias incident is properly

         23  classified, and most importantly, that in all

         24  possible cases, a thorough investigation leads to an

         25  arrest and successful prosecution of the
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          2  perpetrator.

          3                 In order to ensure such positive

          4  results, it is important that our front-line

          5  officers are provided with the training they need to

          6  identify a bias incident when they respond to one.

          7                 To this end, training is provided in

          8  several tiers.

          9                 First, new recruits receive extensive

         10  training in the Police Academy. This training

         11  includes substantive discussions on the topic of

         12  prejudice and bias, and how these underpinnings of

         13  hate crimes may be recognizable in various

         14  scenarios.

         15                 The Police Academy reviews with these

         16  new police officers, procedures to be employed, when

         17  they respond to the scene of a possible bias

         18  incident, including the style and substance of the

         19  questions officers should ask during preliminary

         20  interviews with the victim.

         21                 For those officers already assigned

         22  to patrol precincts or to transit or housing

         23  facilities, command level training is provided on a

         24  regular basis.

         25                 Just this past January, I assisted in
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          2  the production of the command level training program

          3  on hate crimes.

          4                 This lesson concisely provides

          5  officers with up-to-date procedures and

          6  responsibilities regarding their response to

          7  possible bias incidents.

          8                 The lesson also providers officers

          9  with additional tools and resources they can use to

         10  assist victims of hate crimes.

         11                 Newly promoted sergeants, lieutenants

         12  and captains also receive specialized training

         13  according to their various levels of supervisory

         14  responsibilities at their respective promotional

         15  schools.

         16                 Either I, or a veteran member of the

         17  Hate Crime Task Force directly address all of these

         18  newly promoted supervisors with up-to-date training

         19  in the areas of bias incident recognition, proper

         20  response and the importance of the immediate

         21  preliminary investigation.

         22                 Within the Detective Bureau, all

         23  precinct detective squad members, as a part of their

         24  criminal investigations course, receive training on

         25  the subject and nature of bias incidents, and the
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          2  importance of conducting immediate preliminary

          3  investigations.

          4                 The Hate Crime Task Force also

          5  undertakes outreach efforts with numerous community

          6  organizations. In the past four years, we have made

          7  over 100 presentations at schools, colleges and

          8  before civic groups in order to educate members of

          9  the public about the nature of hate crimes and the

         10  existence of our task force within the NYPD.

         11                 We also maintain a relationship with

         12  numerous community groups and leaders, as well as

         13  advocacy groups and school officials in an effort to

         14  keep the lines of communication open and head off

         15  possible bias incidents before they occur.

         16                 Our outreach efforts are complimented

         17  by the resources and community contacts of the

         18  Community Affairs Bureau within the NYPD, which is

         19  of invaluable assistance in ensuring that there is

         20  always a dialogue between investigators from the

         21  Task Force and any segment of our diverse community.

         22                 Units such as the New Immigrant

         23  Outreach Unit within the Community Affairs Bureau,

         24  provide a steady and ongoing resource to their

         25  community. In the aftermath of a hate crime, these

                                                            21

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  units give victims and their communities a familiar,

          3  informed and understanding presence from within the

          4  law enforcement community.

          5                 Despite the fact that any hate crime

          6  is one too many, it should be noted that the overall

          7  number of hate crimes committed within the City is

          8  relatively low when observed within the context of

          9  the millions of people living in, working in and

         10  visiting in the City of New York.

         11                 As of October 21st of this year, 237

         12  hate crimes have been committed in New York City.

         13  These can be broken down by the type of bias

         14  involved. 125 crimes involve bias against religion,

         15  including 103 involving an anti-Semitic bias, 46

         16  crimes involving bias against a race or ethnicity,

         17  44 crimes involving bias against sexual orientation,

         18  and 22 crimes involving other types of biases.

         19                 The largest number of hate crimes,

         20  87, constitute criminal mischief. That's when

         21  someone damages property. Followed by 79 crimes of

         22  aggravated harassment. That's when someone receives

         23  a threat by e-mail or by letter, and 44 assaults.

         24  The total of 115 arrests for hate crimes have been

         25  effected so far in 2007.
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          2                 In closing, I would like to thank you

          3  for your interest in the Hate Crime Task Force, and

          4  I will be pleased to answer any questions you may

          5  have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          7                 We've been joined by Council Members

          8  Mark-Viverito and Gentile and also by Speaker Quinn,

          9  who we would like to go to now for a statement and

         10  some questions.

         11                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you very much. I

         12  just wanted to, I'm not going to be able to stay for

         13  the whole hearing, but first I wanted to thank

         14  Chairpersons Vallone and Stewart and Seabrook for

         15  holding this hearing today, and this hearing is

         16  obviously an oversight on the functions of the Hate

         17  Crimes Task Force within the NYPD, but we also hope

         18  that the discussion today will help further thinking

         19  and brainstorming that's going on, both within the

         20  Department and the Human Rights Commission and in

         21  the Council and all of us together, to find even

         22  better and stronger ways we can try to reduce the

         23  number of hate crimes in our City and respond to the

         24  hate crimes in our City.

         25                 I just want to start off by thanking
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          2  Inspector Osgood and everyone in the Hate Crimes

          3  Task Force for their work, their attention their

          4  responsiveness. I have in a number of different

          5  capacities worked with the Hate Crimes Task Force

          6  for a number of years, too many years, I wish you

          7  were out of business, and the truth is that the

          8  members of the Hate Crimes Task Force are just

          9  really an example of why we call the Police

         10  Department New York's finest. They are men and women

         11  who care deeply about our City. They care deeply

         12  about preserving the diversity of our City, and they

         13  care deeply about making sure that every New Yorker

         14  can go about their business feeling safe, feeling

         15  safe about who they are and that they'll be safe on

         16  the streets where they live and work.

         17                 And we're lucky, not every Police

         18  Department in every big city has a Hate Crimes Task

         19  Force, and no City anywhere has a Hate Crimes Task

         20  Force as committed and as attentive as ours. And

         21  I've seen members from that task force at crime

         22  scenes, I've seen them at hospital beds, I've seen

         23  them everywhere they need to be to make sure that a

         24  victim gets the support they need, and I just want

         25  to -- obviously, we'll all try to figure out how we
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          2  can do all of our jobs better. We can always do

          3  better, but the truth is you guys are doing a great

          4  job responding to hate in our City and I just want

          5  to thank you very much, Inspector, for that work and

          6  for always reaching out to communities in this City.

          7  So, thank you very much.

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We'd just like

         10  to thank the Speaker for being the force behind this

         11  hearing and for bringing everyone together today to

         12  combat hate crimes. You know, there will always be

         13  hate crimes, but thank God there will always be good

         14  people standing against them, and that's the message

         15  we'd like to send out today.

         16                 You know, again, thanks to the

         17  Speaker, we've done more oversight over the Police

         18  Department and over the groups that monitor the

         19  Police Department than any other Council in history

         20  probably, and you guys have been very cooperative.

         21  You've been here every time we've asked you to be

         22  here, and we are just part of, as I said, numerous

         23  groups that do oversight over the Police Department.

         24                 You are the most overseeing Police

         25  Department in the country. Many people don't realize
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          2  that, but there are numerous groups that monitor you

          3  and we're part of that process and you've been very

          4  cooperative in that. So, thank you for coming again

          5  today. Thank you for this testimony.

          6                 I think the thing that stands out the

          7  most is the last paragraph, when you talked about

          8  the amount of hate crimes. Yes, relatively low, as

          9  you mentioned, but these are the crimes, as Mike

         10  Miller said, tear at the fabric of society. So,

         11  though small in number, the damage is large.

         12                 How does that amount of hate crime,

         13  the 237 this year, compare to past years?

         14                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right now up

         15  to this point in time, as of yesterday, for the data

         16  I gave in the testimony was 237, but as of yesterday

         17  we have received 260 hate crime cases, as of

         18  yesterday, compared to 217 before at this point in

         19  time year-to-date for an increase of 19.8 percent

         20  increase.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how about

         22  years before that?

         23                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Hate crimes

         24  have declined 60 percent over the last 15 years. If

         25  you look back to 1992, we've had 627 hate crimes,
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          2  over the last 15 years, hate crimes have trended

          3  down in parallel to the overall -- it has trended

          4  down in parallel to crime overall.

          5                 In the last 15 years crime was down

          6  70 percent, and the last 15 years, hate crimes are

          7  down 60 percent.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Other than this

          9  year, has there been an uptick in prior years, or is

         10  this the first time we've seen that?

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: No. Over the

         12  last 15 years, if you were to chart out the hate

         13  crime occurrences, it sort of looks like the stock

         14  market, there will be a year where they're up, there

         15  will be a year where they will be down. There is

         16  viability to it. There is, you know, a variation to

         17  it, but if you were to chart out the last 15 years,

         18  you would see this trend line heading downward, 60

         19  percent.

         20                 We are in a spike right now, we've

         21  been spiked in the last 90 days, but if you were to

         22  chart out hate crimes, once again over the last 15

         23  years, you would see this up and down motion, but a

         24  general trending down of 60 percent.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: This is a
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          2  question that we were asked earlier at the press

          3  conference and it's one that we're very concerned

          4  about. You're the experts, to what do you attribute

          5  this recent spike in hate crimes?

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Well,

          7  several things occur. One, hate crimes are random,

          8  so it's common if you were to time slice the last 15

          9  years, a 30-day period, a 60-day period, 90-day

         10  period, you would see upticks and then you would see

         11  downticks.

         12                 But I think this last 90 days is a

         13  little bit different. The current spike started in

         14  the beginning of August, right when Jena, Louisiana

         15  hit the national headlines. And there is a thing in

         16  hate crimes called "clustering," where hate crimes

         17  are very emotional. The last time we had a cluster

         18  in New York City was back in 2003 with the attack of

         19  racial Carter, out in Great Kills in Staten Island.

         20  So, what I believe is occurring is, one, it is a

         21  random uptick, but it's being augmented by the

         22  national tension being given to hate crimes right

         23  now. And I think two things occur. Two things occur

         24  when you have clustering.

         25                 One is that those who are more prone
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          2  to committing an act of prejudicial hate will now be

          3  moved to go and commit it.

          4                 But, two, I think the other thing

          5  that occurred on these time frames is that one who

          6  may not report now will report, so I think you have

          7  two things occurring right now, is you have an

          8  offender who was prone to offending, may now be

          9  moved more to offend, but in connection to that, a

         10  victim who may not have reported before is now

         11  reporting, resulting in this spike that we're having

         12  right now.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's very

         14  informative.

         15                 You mentioned the Louisiana incident.

         16  I just note from the statistics that you provided,

         17  and it's the first time that I had seen them, that

         18  while our Jewish population here in the City is a

         19  small percentage, they account for almost half of

         20  the crimes this year, the hate crimes this year.

         21  Have we seen a recent spike in anti-Semitic crimes

         22  clustered around the visit of Ahmadinejad?

         23                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Well, cases

         24  which are anti-Semitic are currently up 20 percent

         25  year-to-date.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are you saying

          3  they're up the same percentage, because the rest of

          4  you said we're up 19 percent this year.

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right. Cases

          6  which are anti-Semitic cases are up 20 percent

          7  year-to-date, but in the last 90-day period they're

          8  up 36 percent. So, anti-Semitic cases are spiking in

          9  this spike, too.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I have a long

         11  list of questions --

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: No, I'll

         13  listen.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I know you're

         15  willing to listen to them but my colleagues may not

         16  be.

         17                 So, I will go next to my co-chair

         18  Larry Seabrook.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         20  much, Mr. Chair. There will be a second round, I

         21  guess, so you will have that opportunity to do that.

         22                 Thank you very much, Inspector. Just

         23  a couple of questions that I have. One is, what are

         24  the ways in which the Police Department advertise

         25  about this unit, and what is a hate crime and how
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          2  one reports a hate crime? Where do you put

          3  advertisement in? Where do you let the public know

          4  about this? How do they get this information?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Well, we at

          6  the Hate Crime Task Force have a community outreach

          7  program. It's been formalized over the last two or

          8  three years where we've done them. About 100

          9  community outreach sessions to various groups

         10  throughout the City, including precinct councils,

         11  including community groups, churches, mosques.

         12                 Right now my Sergeant and one of my

         13  Detectives is at a community meeting right now

         14  talking about the Hate Crime Task Force. So, we at

         15  the Hate Crime Task Force go out and meet with

         16  people.

         17                 The Community Affairs Bureau, they

         18  have a new Immigrant Outreach Unit, that we work

         19  with them and they go out to all the new immigrant

         20  communities, and a part of their information

         21  transfer is to tell the different communities about

         22  our existence and to how to report a hate crime.

         23                 Plus, all precinct commanders are

         24  fully aware of the Hate Crime Task Force, and at the

         25  community meetings they periodically present the
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          2  information about the Hate Crime Task Force and to

          3  how to report.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And so do you

          5  have a published brochure that you provide the

          6  public with?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: That talks

          9  about that you do have that?

         10                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Is it possible

         12  that we could see what it is?

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Absolutely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And you can

         15  bring it with you?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: I don't have

         17  it on me now, but I'm more than happy to present it

         18  to you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay. If you

         20  could do that.

         21                 What's the amount of manpower that's

         22  allocated to this task force that you actually have,

         23  not that the Department has, but I'm talking that

         24  you actually have the responsibility and duty of

         25  each and every day?
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right. We

          3  have myself, in our table of organization, a

          4  lieutenant, three sergeants and we have 19 criminal

          5  investigators.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: You have 19

          7  criminal investigators.

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: That's

         10  Citywide?

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Citywide,

         12  yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay.

         14                 Now, when we're looking at this

         15  number, and it might seem large, might seem small to

         16  others, but there is a feeling within many of the

         17  communities where people are victims of hate crimes,

         18  that there is the lack of reporting.

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And that's a

         21  statistic that's not dealt with at all because

         22  people who seem as if it's an everyday occurrence

         23  that they get to be called a name that they might

         24  believe that I was called it so much that I thought

         25  it was my middle name. And so what happens is that
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          2  they don't decide to respond to talk about it, so

          3  there needs to be something in some sense, or in

          4  this question also dovetails over to the Human

          5  Rights Commission as to how do you go about alerting

          6  the public as the way in which what is a hate crime,

          7  how, and how to report this?

          8                 Because I think that a lot of it is

          9  under-reported, and when we see the visible swastika

         10  and the word, now I'm not even sure the word that

         11  was put on the bench in Staten Island was reported

         12  at all, because somebody washed it off. I'm not

         13  certain that was even investigated.

         14                 And, so, that's my concern that those

         15  things happened and it's, well, these are kids. You

         16  know, that's what they said in Jena, Louisiana, the

         17  District Attorney raised the issue and said, well,

         18  we're not going to prosecute them because they were

         19  just kids with the noose, and they were juveniles.

         20  And, so, that's my concern, that these things of how

         21  we inform the public in response to it.

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: That's

         23  probably the key question. The issue of

         24  under-reporting. And there are several components to

         25  the answer to that.
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          2                 One is Police Departments throughout

          3  the country, we operate off of crime which are

          4  reported. I don't know what, if you don't tell me,

          5  I'm not going to know it. So, the NYPD and any

          6  Police Department works off crime which is reported

          7  to them.

          8                 There is the complex question of how

          9  much is hate crime under-reported? It's a very

         10  complex question. I don't have any scientific method

         11  to give a determination. I can't say as a police

         12  officer for 22 years intuitively, just intuitively,

         13  and once again, I have no scientific basis for it,

         14  as a guess, ten to 15 percent under-reported.

         15                 Are hate crimes under-reported? Well,

         16  if one person doesn't report, then you have to

         17  affirm that and say, yes, hate crimes are

         18  under-reported.

         19                 I do agree with you that there are

         20  some communities in the City, particularly the new

         21  immigrant communities, who come from countries where

         22  they are not democracies, where there is no

         23  constitution, where the police are militaristic and

         24  viciously brutal, where they don't speak the English

         25  language, where they may not be documented, that
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          2  that's a very complex problem and they may not be

          3  coming forward.

          4                 I totally understand that. The Police

          5  Department understands that. And that's a complex

          6  problem.

          7                 We do have in City government, which

          8  is a part of our training, Hate Crime Task Force

          9  training is Executive Order 41, promulgated by the

         10  Mayor. That order, the essence of that order has

         11  been in effect for the last 20, 30 years, that

         12  police officers are precluded, they are prohibited

         13  from asking the immigration status of a witness, a

         14  victim, or anybody coming forward to the New York

         15  City Police Department.

         16                 With that I can say, being a police

         17  officer 22 years, I have never asked that question.

         18  And in the supervision of thousands of police

         19  officers over the 23 years, I've never seen that

         20  question asked.

         21                 But I agree with you that is an

         22  issue, that is a complex issue. I don't have a

         23  readily available answer to how do we solve that.

         24                 We are, both myself and the Police

         25  Commissioner, and the NYPD, we want everybody to be
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          2  caught. If you are a victim, I want you to come

          3  forward because I want to lock them up. So, come

          4  forward. We want you to come forward. The Hate Crime

          5  Task Force has a community outreach program. The

          6  Community Affairs Bureau has a community outreach

          7  program.

          8                 But I agree with you, that is a

          9  complex problem.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And finally,

         11  one of the things as it relates to hate crime, and I

         12  think that District Attorney Hynes raised the issue,

         13  and the level of punishment that a person received

         14  and that the public knows about is a clear detriment

         15  as to what can be done.

         16                 Part of the problem is that the

         17  public feels that nothing happens unless the person

         18  is killed, or a person, you know -- but what happens

         19  to people who put nooses up? It seems as if nobody

         20  can ever get caught with a noose, or putting

         21  swastikas on nobody can ever get caught. And so,

         22  those questions of what happens, it looks just like

         23  vandalism. And I think the level of punishment is

         24  what sends the message and I don't think the public

         25  is seeing that.
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          2                 What's your response?

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: I agree with

          4  that, too. That as a police officer who practices

          5  and studies, how do you treat order out in the

          6  social system? There is only one key way to treat

          7  order, there is only one key way to get long-term

          8  behavior modification of people inside the City, and

          9  that's through sanctioning.

         10                 So, in the past several years,

         11  there's been some very serious punishments given to

         12  people who have committed hate crime homicides or

         13  hate crime assaults.

         14                 We have the assault of Devon Prince

         15  out in Brooklyn. His assailant got 27 years. The

         16  assault of Kevin Aviance here in Manhattan, his

         17  assailant got 16 years. The assailant of Mr. Glen

         18  Moore on Howard Beach, he got 12 to 15 years.

         19                 So, if it's an assault or homicide,

         20  there is a mechanism in place to go and deliver very

         21  severe punishments, which I agree with you, is the

         22  key deterrent to getting people to behave.

         23                 It is self evident that you don't

         24  attack somebody because they are a different

         25  identity.
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          2                 One way I explain it is everybody has

          3  a right to walk down the street and be safe in their

          4  identity. Everyone has a right to identity safety.

          5                 I don't think that has to be proofed

          6  out. I hold it to be self-evident. But if you wanted

          7  a proofed out argument, it's a key civil right. It's

          8  an imbedded right in the constitution. It's a

          9  self-evident right.

         10                 So, I think the question you're

         11  posing is how does government ensure the right to

         12  identity safety of everyone, particularly in the

         13  City where you have 8 million people, just

         14  tremendous diversity.

         15                 I agree with the notion of sanction.

         16  And, now, some people argue that we should have

         17  greater education. Well, any rational person will

         18  before that. You know, how can you not be against

         19  education, or how could you be against education?

         20                 But I think I will have to say,

         21  Department of Education, the churches and various

         22  groups have been speaking about this for the last

         23  several decades.

         24                 My experience and my understanding of

         25  this behavior is that it's only through sanctioning
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          2  do you modify behavior long term.

          3                 Now, if you also look at what

          4  occurred after 2000. After the enactment of the Hate

          5  Crime statute, the Article 45 of the New York State

          6  Penal Law, you see a very large drop in hate crimes

          7  a year after it was enacted. And that statute gave

          8  prosecutors and judges greater penalty capabilities

          9  in regards to punishing people.

         10                 It also put people on notice - do not

         11  do this behavior or you will suffer a consequence.

         12                 So, I agree with you. My suggestion

         13  is that anywhere where we could increase the

         14  sanctioning on any hate crime behavior, even if it's

         15  minor, that should be done.

         16                 In my experience as a police officer,

         17  only through sanctioning do you get behavior

         18  modification. There's a phrase, "You sanction the

         19  one to help the many."

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 I'll turn it over to Dr. Stewart.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you,

         24  Co-Chair Seabrook.

         25                 I have a few questions, Inspector.
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          2  You spoke extensively about the type of training

          3  that we do for police officers. I want to know, do

          4  you do public outreach to educate the people

          5  regarding the identification of hate crimes? And is

          6  there a need for better public education in this

          7  regard?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes. Like I

          9  said earlier, we have a formal community outreach

         10  program. We'll come out to your community. We

         11  actually have a powerpoint presentation and many of

         12  my people are trained.

         13                 We're doing it right now as we speak.

         14  Right now the Hate Crime Task Force, jointly with

         15  the FBI, is meeting with a group of community

         16  members with regards to hate crimes. And that

         17  powerpoint presentation I just spoke about is

         18  actually being shown right now.

         19                 So, we, the Hate Crime Task Force, do

         20  that, the Community Affairs Bureau, but it's a very

         21  difficult undertaking because we have 8 million

         22  people in the City. We have 250 different languages

         23  spoken, we have diverse communities, you know, how

         24  do we get to all those people?

         25                 So, we attempt our best to
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          2  communicate to people what hate crime is and to how

          3  to record a hate crime.

          4                 On November 7th we'll be out in the

          5  Queens Borough President's Office, meeting with

          6  about 100 community members. But my core function is

          7  criminal investigations. I attempt to free up as

          8  much resources as possible, you know, to reach out

          9  to the public, but I would be in support, I think

         10  any rational person would be in support if we had a

         11  formal, more extensive mechanism to make the public

         12  aware, very similar to how we make the public aware

         13  to smoking, or how to make the public aware to

         14  domestic violence, that I think that would be a good

         15  thing.

         16                 Now, I do know the Speaker's Office

         17  and the Mayor's Office are working on some public

         18  service announcements to be able to get people to

         19  become more aware. So, if we're able to do that, I

         20  would hold that to be a very good thing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: On the question

         22  of language access; how can you address language

         23  access issues that may arise in the, you know,

         24  reporting of hate crimes?

         25                 What method do you use right now?
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: As you know,

          3  in the City there is between 175 to 250 different

          4  languages spoken. The New York City Police

          5  Department had several mechanisms to be able to

          6  translate. One is, if you call 9-1-1, 9-1-1 has a

          7  translation service that they can switch you over

          8  into a translator.

          9                 Sergeants on patrol in New York City

         10  have imbedded in their cell phones a translation

         11  service that if they come upon a person, a victim

         12  witness, anybody wants to speak to us, they can

         13  actually activate this translation service inside

         14  their cell phones and to actually get people to

         15  talk, to be able to translate what's going on. But

         16  another very interesting thing that Police

         17  Commissioner Kelly has implemented, is we have

         18  qualified translators, police officers who are

         19  translators, where we have almost every language

         20  covered, and they actually go to this school to be

         21  assessed on their fluency.

         22                 I wish I could remember the language

         23  that I needed translated. But about four months ago,

         24  I needed a very obscure language to be translated.

         25  It was in some Polynesian Island out in the Pacific,
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          2  that's where the victim was from, so it was like two

          3  o'clock in the morning, I called down to our

          4  operations unit and I said do we have a translator

          5  in this obscure language? And they said hold on, and

          6  I was hoping we had one. Now, under the NYPD's

          7  Language Translation Fluency Program, it turned out

          8  we had 12. We had 12 police officers on standby

          9  ready to be activated to help us translate, and we

         10  called them up at two o'clock in the morning and

         11  said come over to the station house, we're going to

         12  need your services.

         13                 So, the NYPD in the last several

         14  years have acquired a great capacity to actually go

         15  and perform language translations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Do you currently

         17  have any school-based anti-hate crimes initiatives?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: I'm sorry?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Any school-based

         20  anti-hate crimes initiatives?

         21                 In other words, anything during the

         22  school teaching the kids about hate crimes? Any

         23  initiative there?

         24                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: With the

         25  Hate Crime Task Force, keep in mind my core function
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          2  is criminal investigations, so we have gone to many

          3  schools. But once again, there are 1 million school

          4  children in the City of New York. I certainly can't

          5  get to them all. I can only get to a small

          6  percentage. But this past week alone, we've been up

          7  to a high school up in Bronx Community College. We

          8  were up in Manhattan College recent. So, we've been

          9  to a series of schools, but once again, I just want

         10  to say that our core function is basic criminal

         11  investigation. But we have been and we do go out to

         12  schools. If a school called me tomorrow, we would

         13  show up.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right.

         15                 The last question I have is, do you

         16  recommend any changes to the existing Hate Crimes

         17  Laws, or anything that will make the existing laws

         18  more effective?

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Well, there

         20  are several suggestions I can offer in regards of my

         21  five years of experience in doing this type of work.

         22  Just give me a second. I have a list here.

         23                 One, from my experience the current

         24  statute is good, Article 45, but it certainly could

         25  be strengthened. Like, for instance, there is the
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          2  key construct in the statute which says "whole or

          3  substantial part." The motivation has to be wholly

          4  or substantially the identity of the victim.

          5  Substantial isn't defined, and it allows -- it

          6  somewhat allows a logical defect could possibly be

          7  exploited. So, as a suggestion, it's my judgement

          8  that the term "substantial" in Article 45 should

          9  have a definition to it. And if you ever read the

         10  penal law there are many things that are defined.

         11                 Several other type of suggestions is

         12  the current youthful offender status, the youthful

         13  offender status says in essence if you're 16, 17,

         14  18, 19 years old, you would be granted youthful

         15  status. There are a couple of like exceptions to

         16  that. I believe if you commit a hate crime at 16,

         17  17, 18, 19, and once again my position is self

         18  evident, don't chase somebody down the street and

         19  attack them because he is a different identity. My

         20  position is you should not get youth offender status

         21  to that.  What that, in essence, does, and once

         22  again, I'm not an attorney, but in the essence, that

         23  if you have an offender and he is granted youthful

         24  offender status, that what occurs is that the trial

         25  judge can actually take control of the proceeding,
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          2  and take it out of the hands of the District

          3  Attorney. So, my position is youthful offender

          4  status should not be applied to those who have

          5  committed hate crimes.

          6                 Additionally, as a suggestion, there

          7  are sometimes when we will have a hate crime and the

          8  victim does not want to prosecute. I believe the CPL

          9  should be modified that we can prosecute it as the

         10  People State of New York. Almost same type of

         11  authority we have inside domestic violence crimes,

         12  where the victim may not want to prosecute, but the

         13  People State of New York are able to step forward

         14  and to bring an action.

         15                 Since a hate crime isn't just against

         16  an individual, it's against the entire group, there

         17  is group victimization. I believe it's valid to make

         18  a People State of New York argument and to be able

         19  to bring a hate crime forward, making the People

         20  State of New York the complainant.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Does early

         22  determination that it's a hate crime or not, does

         23  that make any difference?

         24                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: I'm sorry.

         25  Say that again?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If there is a

          3  crime that is being committed, the earlier the

          4  identification that it is a hate crime, is that

          5  important to building your case?

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes,

          7  absolutely.

          8                 Any investigation gets a strategic

          9  and tactical advantage if it gets denoted as a crime

         10  or gets denoted as a hate crime sooner than later.

         11  That the quicker we're able to get inside the

         12  process, the quicker we're able to access

         13  information, get the victims, get the witnesses, and

         14  to accumulate information to actually have the case

         15  resolved correctly. So, that would be a very

         16  accurate statement.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Dr.

         20  Stewart.

         21                 Before I go to Speaker Quinn for some

         22  questions, I just want to say we've been joined by

         23  former Speaker Vallone, who is in the back of the

         24  room, and don't tell him what I said about this

         25  Council doing more work than any Council previously,
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          2  please.

          3                 And just so you know, NYPD, you're

          4  not the only ones to undergo oversight, apparently.

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: I can see

          6  that. I see that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, thank you

          8  for joining us.

          9                 Speaker Quinn.

         10                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you.

         11                 The couple of ideas you just put out,

         12  we would love to, you know, follow-up with you --

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Okay.

         14                 SPEAKER QUINN:-- And Sue on those as

         15  it relates to State agenda, et cetera, because some

         16  of those are obviously in the State's purview, but

         17  we'd love to follow-up with you on those.

         18                 Let me just ask one question. Do you

         19  have any sense from your perspective if -- because

         20  different District Attorneys, not just in New York,

         21  but Statewide, structure their offices differently,

         22  not just on hate crimes, on domestic violence, on

         23  child abuse, on an array of different crimes that

         24  they handle, do you have any perspective on, is

         25  there one borough where you think has the best
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          2  structure or mechanism in place as it relates to

          3  these?

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: You're kind

          5  of putting me on the spot.

          6                 SPEAKER QUINN: Sorry. I'm not trying

          7  to say the other four are bad --

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right. I

          9  know what you're saying.

         10                 SPEAKER QUINN: Because one of the

         11  things we've tried to do in the Council historically

         12  is be very supportive, obviously, of the Police

         13  Department, but also supportive of the District

         14  Attorneys, who are a key part, as they tell us every

         15  day on Law and Order, you know, of keeping this City

         16  --

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right.

         18                 SPEAKER QUINN: -- Safe. And sometimes

         19  we've heard from District Attorneys I'd like to have

         20  a child abuse DA, you know, somebody, for example,

         21  who just does that, develops an expertise, but I

         22  don't have the money. So, it's not for you to say

         23  Staten Island is better than the other four, but

         24  it's more for a guidance for us of whether there is

         25  models we should trying to support in our advocacy.
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right. I

          3  certainly follow you. All of the District Attorneys

          4  have a civil rights type of mechanism, but I have to

          5  say, Brooklyn and Queens have a full civil rights

          6  bureau that they operate with us weekly, where those

          7  bureau chiefs will actually call me, and we develop

          8  this sort of joint expertise, and we develop this

          9  very advanced communication between us. So, once

         10  again, they all do well.

         11                 SPEAKER QUINN: For the record --

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD:-- For the

         13  record.

         14                 SPEAKER QUINN: -- We think it and the

         15  PD thinks they all do well.

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right. But I

         17  have to say both Queens and both Brooklyn have a

         18  very advanced civil rights bureau type of mechanism,

         19  where they get this advance expertise in jointly

         20  with us.

         21                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you very much.

         22  And I just want to say, again, we think all five

         23  District Attorneys are working very hard. I think

         24  perhaps, and I didn't really know that it worked

         25  that way in Brooklyn and Queens, but you know, the
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          2  recent convictions of two of the individuals

          3  involved in the Michael Sandy murder, which was a

          4  hate crime based on sexual orientation --

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Right.

          6                 SPEAKER QUINN: Was a tough case.

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Absolutely.

          8                 SPEAKER QUINN: And it may have been,

          9  in fact, that structure that helped the District

         10  Attorney's, or part of what helped the District

         11  Attorney's prevail in that case.

         12                 I'm sorry I can't stay for the rest

         13  of the hearing, but thank you all.

         14                 And thank you, our three chairs, our

         15  trio today. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Madam

         17  Speaker. And now I'd like to turn to Councilman Joe

         18  Addabbo.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         20  Chairman Vallone.

         21                 I want to thank all three chairs and

         22  the staff for the work that they've done on this

         23  important issue.

         24                 Deputy Inspector, thank you very much

         25  for your time. And the NYPD who are here, thank you
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          2  very much for the work that you do on this most

          3  important issue of hate crimes.

          4                 I think one of the most important

          5  points that you've made today is that outreach is

          6  going into the community, going into the schools,

          7  and actually being more proactive at preventing the

          8  hate crime than being reactive as we have to deal

          9  with the crime itself. So, trying to educate both

         10  community and our students is very important.

         11                 And in relation to that, and I know

         12  you've mentioned it a couple of times, can you go

         13  into detail about what is being said either to the

         14  community groups or to the students? And if you

         15  could touch upon one issue that I'm interested in,

         16  do you send a message that there is a ripple effect

         17  to the hate crime, whether it be upon the neighbors,

         18  whether it be upon the community, that is branded

         19  sometimes in the hate crime; can you touch upon

         20  that?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes, sure.

         22                 During our presentations and outreach

         23  to the various community groups, there are several

         24  topics that we cover. One obviously we cover,

         25  Article 45 of the New York State Penal Law, which is
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          2  the Hate Crimes Act, and we cover it, and we

          3  particularly cover the construct inside the statute

          4  or substantial part. That's the motivation. That's

          5  the motivation threshold in the State of New York

          6  that has to be satisfied to be able to deem -- to be

          7  able to satisfy that the statute -- so, we're going

          8  to spend a certain amount of time on that key

          9  construction, whole or substantial part.

         10                 We then also talk about the affect of

         11  what hate crimes have on the community, that they

         12  invoke group victimization. And once again, you

         13  don't get one victim in a hate crime, you get an

         14  entire -- the entire group gets victimized. So, in

         15  fact, it's clear why the Hate Crime laws exist. It's

         16  clear why they need to exist. You have the

         17  individual victim, which goes and experiences a

         18  higher level of trauma in a hate crime than he does

         19  in a non-hate crime. You have the group that which

         20  he belongs to gets traumatized and gets victimized.

         21  You theoretically have a hate crime where you have 2

         22  million angry people inside the City, which is why

         23  we need a hate crime statute, which is why we have a

         24  Hate Crime Task Force. This is why we invoke such

         25  rigor in regard to hate crimes.
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          2                 And, so, those two topics that we go

          3  and cover, and particularly we purposely cover and

          4  we attempt to communicate the concept of group

          5  victimization, how we cannot have this behavior in

          6  the City of New York, because look what it can do to

          7  the civility of the City.

          8                 Then we cover the First Amendment.

          9  And the First Amendment, hate speech, protective

         10  speech is a very confusing topic to many people,

         11  particularly if you're from a country that is not a

         12  democratic country, or if you're from a country that

         13  is a democratic country, but does not have a free

         14  speech mechanism inside their constitution, and this

         15  is what causes the greatest confusion and

         16  consternation out in the public is the fact that in

         17  the United States under the First Amendment, under

         18  the evolution of the First Amendment, over the last

         19  220 some years, through case law development,

         20  through Supreme Court, you can say some pretty vile,

         21  pretty offensive things to a person and they have

         22  protected speech. And we purposefully cover that,

         23  because it's very common for us to get complaints

         24  that I'm walking down the street and someone said

         25  these identity-oriented phrases to me, how come it's
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          2  not a hate crime. And we intentionally go into the

          3  First Amendment, into the development of the First

          4  Amendment, into the free speech history, to attempt

          5  to explain why the Supreme Courts rule time and time

          6  again that hate speech, without any threats, is

          7  protective speech. And the goal in those decisions

          8  is to perfect a chilling effect on all speech. So,

          9  in essence what the Supreme Court has said time and

         10  time again is that we're going to say to the public

         11  that it's okay if you're offended or if you're

         12  harassed or like if you're ignored, we don't want to

         13  put a chilling effect on speech overall.

         14                 Then we finally explain that the hate

         15  speech only becomes criminal when there is a true

         16  threat imbedded in it. And the definition of "true

         17  threat" is some language that tells a reasonable

         18  person that some physical harm will come to you in

         19  some immediate time frame.

         20                 And, so, we go over those topics.

         21  Those are the key things that we attempt to

         22  communicate, and we do that to be able to get people

         23  to understand this very complex topic. And the last

         24  thing we cover is how to report a hate crime.

         25  Obviously, if it's an emergency, you dial 9-1-1. If
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          2  it's not you can call 3-1-1. 3-1-1 works very

          3  effectively. As I said earlier, we get four or five

          4  3-1-1 calls each week inside the Hate Crime Task

          5  Force. And then we tell them, please come forward.

          6  We need to know what you know. I can't help you if a

          7  person doesn't come forward.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Again, let me

          9  reiterate the importance of that kind of explanation

         10  and education of both young and old, both in our

         11  schools and in our communities. So, thank you very

         12  much for that explanation and your efforts.

         13                 If I was to contact someone within

         14  the NYPD to see what schools they have gone in my

         15  district, or to have them come to my school, who

         16  would I contact?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: You would

         18  contact myself, or you could contact anybody inside

         19  my office. You know, just give us a call. We are

         20  consistent with our resources level. We are more

         21  than happy to come out and speak to any school.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And as

         23  alluded to earlier by one of my colleagues about

         24  outreach and us being a part of that formula, the

         25  Council, if there is any information that can be
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          2  forwarded to our office so that we can get it out to

          3  our constituency --

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: -- It would

          6  be more than welcomed into my office at least. So, I

          7  appreciate that.

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         10  very much, all three chairs. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council member.

         12  We'll go to Council Member Gentile to be followed by

         13  Oddo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman.

         16                 Inspector, thank you for being here,

         17  and I think we've all learned a lot this morning.

         18                 I had a question in terms of your

         19  investigation and handling of a case. In the event

         20  that when a crime first happens, it gets assigned to

         21  some other unit of the Police Department. I think

         22  you've made reference to that in your remarks. What

         23  happens then if it goes to the DA's office and ADA

         24  and then starts to do some type of investigation or

         25  the detective does an investigation and determines
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          2  that it has bias-related incident to it; do you then

          3  take the entire case from that detective unit? Or

          4  how does that work?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes. If

          6  there's an event, if there is a crime, and for

          7  various reasons it's not denoted at the time that it

          8  could be a hate crime, and there is a very

          9  interesting phenomenon which occurs through a hate

         10  crime victim, is that they many times don't offer

         11  full articulation when the police first respond, and

         12  there's various reasons for that. One, that they're

         13  traumatized. People think the police just know. But

         14  if it turns out to be the case that there is a

         15  crime, and we don't denote it as a hate crime right

         16  away because we don't have full information to make

         17  that judgment, and it goes to the detective squad,

         18  and the detective squad now makes a determination

         19  when they do a follow-up interview with the victim

         20  that this could be a hate crime, that Detective

         21  Squad calls the captain and that particular captain

         22  calls the Hate Crime Task Force.

         23                 So, there is a mechanism inside the

         24  NYPD that if at a later date down the process that

         25  information now becomes available that now changes

                                                            59

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  the classification of the act, the Hate Crime Task

          3  Force gets involved and the case gets fully assigned

          4  to us.

          5                 There are occasions when for very

          6  complex reasons, too, that a victim gets down to the

          7  District Attorney's Office and is speaking to the

          8  intake ADA, and once again, here's something which

          9  very interesting happens in New York, too, that for

         10  some reason victims articulate fuller to a District

         11  Attorney than they do to us. Probably because

         12  they've had several hours to calm down. They've had

         13  several hours to rethink, and maybe the following

         14  day. It's very difficult for the victim to give a

         15  full articulation at the scene of the event, because

         16  he's in such a traumatized state. So, five hours

         17  later, eight hours later, 12 hours later, if they're

         18  not speaking to the intake ADA, they will now give

         19  fuller articulation, and during that articulation,

         20  if information comes out that will satisfy the

         21  Article 45 of the New York State Penal Law and make

         22  it a hate crime, what occurs is that the intake ADA

         23  actually calls our unit direct, or they'll call

         24  their Civil Rights Bureau Chief who actually calls

         25  our unit direct, and we take the case on. That case
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          2  becomes ours and we will actually respond now to the

          3  actual -- we will actually respond out to the DA's

          4  office and to assist in the interviewing of the

          5  victim and to invoke a process of investigation.

          6                 So, yes, in both cases, if an event

          7  is not classified right away and his information

          8  gets acquired later by the NYPD, that case gets

          9  classified as a hate crime and it gets assigned to

         10  the Hate Crime Task Force, or down the intake office

         11  of the District Attorney's office if they give

         12  greater articulation and that the District Attorney

         13  now deemed it a hate crime, we, the Hate Crime Task

         14  Force, go. We are notified by the DA and we make a

         15  case on it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Would there

         17  be a situation by which you would work in tandem

         18  with the particular Detective Bureau, for example,

         19  the Special Victims Bureau, during the course of a

         20  case?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes,

         22  absolutely. There are certain cases where additional

         23  expertise are needed. If it's a specific victims

         24  case, it's an arson, if it's a homicide, we will

         25  team up with those NYPD specialty units and we will
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          2  work the case jointly.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Right. And in

          4  doing that I would imagine it also cuts down on the

          5  number of times the victim has to go through the

          6  retelling of the story.

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Absolutely.

          8  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Over and over

         10  again. So, in that regard, it's once with the police

         11  and then with the District Attorney's Office and not

         12  repeatedly with new police officers or new

         13  detectives.

         14                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Right.

         16                 Okay, thank you, Inspector.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. And

         19  thank all my Council members for keeping the

         20  questions brief and to the point.

         21                 Council Member Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Inspector, thank you for some very

         25  compelling written testimony and responses to
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          2  questions. I have found it really persuasive.

          3                 I'm fascinated by your comments about

          4  your belief that education can only go so far and

          5  that I think you used the language long-term

          6  behavior modification comes from sanctioning. Is

          7  that your general belief? Or is that your belief in

          8  terms of crime in general? Or is that specifically

          9  true or more true for hate crimes.

         10                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes,

         11  education is good. No rational person would be

         12  against it. But I have to say, 35,000 years ago when

         13  I was in third or fourth grade, that we were taught

         14  that, about diversity, we were taught not to do

         15  this, not to do that, so Department of Education and

         16  private schools and churches do teach this. Could

         17  they do more? Sure.

         18                 With that, too, I find it

         19  self-evident, I don't think you have to teach this,

         20  but I find it self-evident, you do not chase

         21  somebody down the street because he's a different

         22  identity and then beat him unconscious. I don't

         23  think you have to be taught that. And it's such a

         24  self-evident behavior, that if you do that, it means

         25  you don't get it, you don't want to get it, you have
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          2  to go to jail.

          3                 But that if you look at how New York

          4  City has driven down the crime rate 70 percent over

          5  the last 15 years, it is because we transformed the

          6  Police Department and actually reorganized it to

          7  enforce all the laws.

          8                 There is a very famous sociologist

          9  out of Rutgers University named George Kelling

         10  (phonetic). He's --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I spoke to him

         12  two weeks ago.

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: I would

         14  recommend or suggest that if you get a chance to

         15  read his material, that he spent several decades

         16  studying crime. He did numerous longitudinal

         17  studies, acquired thousands of pages of data. What

         18  he concluded was that when you enforce the law, it

         19  has an effect on people's behavior. From my

         20  observations in the NYPD for the past 22 years,

         21  being a part of the NYPD's continually driving down

         22  the crime rate over the last 15 years, 70 percent,

         23  that I've seen this work in actuality where that

         24  when you enforce the law honestly and

         25  constitutionally and with respect, that it is
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          2  through sanctioning, and it is really only through

          3  sanctioning that people modify their behavior, and

          4  I'll give you an example. A very simple example.

          5                 If somebody wants to doublepark their

          6  car tomorrow, that we, the police, go and give them

          7  a double parking summons. It is not a pleasant

          8  dealing. We are being somewhat mean to that

          9  individual. But in being mean to that individual, we

         10  are being good to the community because that

         11  double-parked car, besides the fact that -- that car

         12  which is double parked causes the community now to

         13  disrupt someone. They have to go around the parked

         14  car where it could increase the chances of a vehicle

         15  accident. Sanctioning that double parker, that

         16  person who double parked his car, communicates to

         17  him that government will not tolerate this behavior.

         18  He will now go home and tell six or seven other

         19  people that, hey, I just got this double parking

         20  summons and people say, oh, New York City government

         21  is not fooling around. I better not double park my

         22  car.

         23                 Now, if you take the aggregate of

         24  that, the aggregate of sanctioning that goes on,

         25  honestly and constitutionally, with respect, people
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          2  start modifying their behavior.

          3                 In the converse, if you do not

          4  enforce the law, that sends a likewise message

          5  through the social system, through the human

          6  behavioral social system that you could do what you

          7  want. So, it's only through sanctioning that we get

          8  this behavior modification, this long-term human

          9  behavior modification, which you've seen occurring

         10  in New York City the last 15 years that has

         11  blossomed the City. The City has become a tremendous

         12  place, as compared to 15 years ago. Yes, we still

         13  have more work to do. Yes, there's still some, you

         14  know, high crime dangerous areas that we have more

         15  to actually do more work, but, you know, so coupled

         16  with the fact that it's self-evident that I don't

         17  chase you down the street and beat you unconscious

         18  because you're a different identity, that it's

         19  really only through sanctioning, fully through the

         20  full criminal justice process, us, the District

         21  Attorney, judges, that people understand the proper

         22  behavior to -- people only get the full

         23  understanding of the proper behavior in the social

         24  setting.

         25                 So, if you study the work of George
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          2  Callen (phonetic), if you also do some more research

          3  into what's called "complex systems theory," and

          4  take a look at human behavior, it's clear to me that

          5  when the government honestly and constitutionally

          6  enforces the law fairly and in a very respectful

          7  manner, you get this behavior modification, which is

          8  what we've had in New York City for the last 15

          9  years, and we all get the benefit of it.

         10                 So, in regards to hate crime, it is

         11  self-evident I don't put a swastika on your

         12  synagogue. I don't have to teach you that. It is

         13  self-evident I don't take a baseball bat and beat

         14  you unconscious because you are a different color

         15  than me.

         16                 You know, it's good to teach that. We

         17  certainly should teach that. Who would be against

         18  that? But if you do it, you have to go to jail,

         19  because you have to send a message through the

         20  social system that if you decide to make this

         21  choice. And the other key part of criminality is

         22  that it's a choice. You invoke a choice to actually

         23  do this act. You know, you could choose not to do

         24  this act. So, what we're saying and what the

         25  criminal justice is saying is don't do this act.

                                                            67

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  Don't select this choice or you, the offender, are

          3  going to pay a consequence. And from my experience

          4  and from looking at hate crimes, and looking at

          5  crime in general, that's the only real mechanism

          6  that actually really works long-term.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. I just

          8  want to read to you a quick paragraph in this weeks

          9  Newsweek Magazine.  I want to see if this is

         10  consistent with what you've found, in terms of hate

         11  crimes in New York City.

         12                 "A position paper by the American

         13  Psychological Association concluded that most hate

         14  crimes were the work of 'otherwise law-abiding

         15  people.' Their actions were sometimes fueled by

         16  alcohol and drugs, but 'the main determinant appears

         17  to be personal prejudice which blinds aggressors to

         18  the immortality of what they're doing.' Extreme

         19  crimes 'tend to be committed by people with the

         20  history of anti-social behavior.'"

         21                 The typical person arrested for a

         22  hate crime in New York City, have they had

         23  interaction with the system before? Or were they

         24  known to the system? Or what's their background?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes, that's
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          2  a very good question. And as soon as I give you the

          3  answer, you can see why crimes have trended down

          4  with the overall crime trend down.

          5                 So, in New York City the general

          6  behavioral profile of a hate crime offender is this:

          7  He's a male between the ages of 14 and 21. He has a

          8  slight criminal history. He does have somewhat

          9  anti-social behavior. He has low-impulse control and

         10  he has what I call "low-emotional intelligence."

         11  He's a general purpose offender. He is not a member

         12  of an organized hate group. We have not arrested a

         13  single person in the last five, ten years in regards

         14  to hate crimes, who is a member of an active

         15  organized hate group.

         16                 So, we don't have offenders who are

         17  out there on a mission, a part of an organized hate

         18  group, to intentionally actually go and offend. We

         19  get very few offenders who repeat. We only had about

         20  three in like the last five years.

         21                 What we have in New York City is the

         22  following type of behavior. A person who is a

         23  general purpose offender, who at a point in time

         24  either thrill seeks or that guy or the defendant

         25  goes through the act of someone of a different
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          2  identity. So, these are the two main scenarios you

          3  have in New York City:

          4                 You have a group of 18 year olds

          5  standing on the corner and they say let's go down

          6  and throw eggs at the synagogue to go and thrill

          7  seek.

          8                 Or a person of one identity who is a

          9  general purpose offender, he has a basic criminal

         10  history. He is walking down the street. He passes

         11  somebody of a different identity and he just reacts.

         12  And the reaction offender, that's where we get the

         13  more serious assaults that could turn out to --

         14  that's where we get the most serious assaults that

         15  could evolve into something very serious, something

         16  like a homicide.

         17                 So, the basic behavioral profile of a

         18  New York City hate crime offender is, he's a person

         19  with a criminal history, between the ages of 14 and

         20  21, normally a male, and he's not a member of an

         21  organized hate group. He's a general purpose

         22  offender.

         23                 So, if you increase the order in the

         24  City's social system, if you bring down the overall

         25  crime rate, you also bring down the hate crime rate.
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          2  So, the key way to bring down hate crimes, is to

          3  continue to bring down the overall crime rate. So,

          4  anything government can do to support bringing down

          5  overall crime rate, that will trickle to the hate

          6  crime subsystem and actually bring it down.

          7                 So, again, what you've seen in New

          8  York City the last 15 years is general crime is down

          9  70 percent, hate crime is down 60 percent. It will

         10  trend down with the overall crime rate, because a

         11  hate crime offender in New York City is a general

         12  purpose offender. So, if you modify his behavior, he

         13  will now not go and thrill seek, nor will he go out

         14  and react.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Just one more,

         16  and just sort of a devil's advocate question. I got

         17  your point about there's a group victimization, and

         18  the second point about there is a high level of

         19  trauma with a hate crime, but devil advocate

         20  question: There are 237 hate crimes reported, if I

         21  broke down different categories of robbery, grand

         22  larceny in New York City, there are certainly more

         23  than 237.

         24                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, why are we
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          2  not clamoring for higher penalties for those

          3  individual categories?

          4                 And why aren't we clamoring for on

          5  the most serious crimes, how many murders are we up

          6  to at this point this year, why aren't we clamoring

          7  -- how do you respond to, or how should I respond

          8  to someone who says you want higher penalties for

          9  237 hate crimes, why aren't you calling for higher

         10  penalties? Why don't we increase penalties across

         11  the board for all crime?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: That, too,

         13  is a question which is very good. Government could

         14  certainly increase penalties in crimes, and it has

         15  nothing to do with, you know, Mike Osgood, you know,

         16  but hate crimes are different. Hate crimes are

         17  different because that they impugn a very key civil

         18  right which I hold to be self-evident, and once

         19  again, I hold it to be self-evident, you have a

         20  right to walk down the street and be safe in your

         21  identity. You have a right to be safe in your core

         22  identity. It's almost a superior right than say to

         23  walk down the street and to hold onto the $20 inside

         24  your wallet.

         25                 Now, that, too, is a very key right,
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          2  but since it deals with core identity, and since we

          3  deal with a country founded by people who were not

          4  allowed to practice their core identity, and I hold

          5  the right of identity safety to be self-evident,

          6  that's imbedded in the constitution, it's a key

          7  civil right. We are first protecting a very superior

          8  key right, to walk down the street and be safe in

          9  who you are.

         10                 Two, there is greater trauma to the

         11  victim. So, if there's greater trauma to the victim,

         12  we, in government, have a right to increase and to

         13  have greater penalty. That's why we have such severe

         14  penalties for homicide. Because there's greater

         15  trauma to people, that's why there's greater

         16  penalties if you're shot than if you steal a pack of

         17  gum from a grocery store. So, in our criminal

         18  justice system, we already differentiate penalties

         19  based on severity of the act.

         20                 So, what we're saying is the severity

         21  of the hate crime act is very severe, and thus it

         22  should be punished severely.

         23                 And then the last key issue is group

         24  victimization, is that, if you were robbed tonight

         25  going home, God forbid, and if you call me, I'll see
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          2  if I can catch the guy, you know? But God forbid you

          3  are robbed going home tonight, you would be upset,

          4  you would be traumatized. All of us would feel sorry

          5  for you, but we would not feel victimized. But if

          6  you were a victim of a hate crime tonight, everybody

          7  in your group, everybody inside your identity group

          8  will feel victimized and feel very angry.

          9                 So, the penalties that we exact on

         10  criminal conduct has to be consistent with the

         11  effect that it has on society. So, the effect on

         12  society of the hate crime is greater than you would

         13  have on an economic crime or a personal crime.

         14  That's why those penalties have to be there. That's

         15  why we have a special statute. That's why there is a

         16  differentiation formed by government.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Oddo.

         22                 You do sound a lot like Thomas

         23  Jefferson.

         24                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Hold these
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          2  truths to be self-evident. Although I have not heard

          3  that explained any better, and I commend you for

          4  that. That last statement, I hadn't thought about it

          5  that way, it's a very good point.

          6                 We also have someone at the table,

          7  Deputy Commissioner and General Counsel to the

          8  Commission on Human Rights, who has so far evaded

          9  any questions somehow. It's a rare occurrence to

         10  have you here, so we do want to get some statements

         11  on the record.

         12                 Your experience in this matter, how

         13  does it compare to what Deputy Inspector Osgood just

         14  said regarding recent trends, regarding the type of

         15  perpetrator? Anything you might want to add.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I was

         17  hoping to get out of here without having to follow

         18  this act, but --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Very close.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: As you

         21  know, the Human Rights Commission, you know, the

         22  Police Department has their job to arrest and arrest

         23  people that commit these acts. The role of the Human

         24  Rights Commission would essentially be to get money

         25  for the victim of these crimes.
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          2                 Over the last five years, we've only

          3  had 17 of these type of incidents filed with us, and

          4  that also, the trend with the crimes has gone down

          5  over the last ten years.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well,

          7  interesting you mention that getting money part,

          8  because I know Jimmy Oddo and I have been working on

          9  these type bills, and I was writing up a bill to

         10  increase the penalties for bias-related property

         11  damage, increase them greatly, and doing the

         12  research, my Counsel, Liz Dubin, who has been

         13  instrumental in preparing the paperwork for this

         14  hearing, along with the other Committees, determined

         15  that there was a law already in place, it's 8603 of

         16  the Administrative Code, which provides a $100,000

         17  penalty for intimidating any other person through

         18  use of property damage, and nothing we could write

         19  could have a fine of that type of nature, and plus

         20  we're preempted by that, so I couldn't put my bill

         21  in.

         22                 But in doing more research on this,

         23  we've also found that we can't find a place and time

         24  that it's ever been enforced. So, we've got a

         25  statute here which says $100,000 for this type of
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          2  damage. This type of damage happens all the time,

          3  and, yet, we haven't used it.

          4                 Is there a problem with this? Do I

          5  need to amend it? Why does that situation exist?

          6                 Because you do, I'm reading your

          7  chart, you have the power to refer it to the Corp

          8  Counsel for civil actions, and that's exactly what

          9  this is.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: And I

         11  believe, though, also those monetary damages would

         12  go to the City, they wouldn't go to the individual

         13  who was the victim of the crime.

         14                 I can only speak for what the Human

         15  Rights Commission does if an individual who is a

         16  victim, maybe it was an incident that didn't rise to

         17  a level of being a crime, or maybe it was a crime

         18  where the Police Department had made arrests, if the

         19  perpetrator is identifiable, which in many of the

         20  cases that occur that is not the situation, you have

         21  to be able to identify somebody to sue them and get

         22  money from them.

         23                 So, if the perpetrator is

         24  identifiable, we, at least in 17 instances, have

         25  filed complaints on behalf of the victim of those
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          2  incidents, now we would investigate that complaint,

          3  and if appropriate, we would attempt to get monetary

          4  damages for that individual.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's for the

          6  victim though?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: That

          8  would be for the victim.

          9                 The Human Rights Commission is not

         10  authorized to go to Supreme Court and bring -- I'll

         11  correct that. We are also authorized to request a

         12  fine as part of the damages that we can seek.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: But you are with

         14  arrests referring cases to the Corp Counsel, who can

         15  go after $100,000 to the City in damages which would

         16  put a severe hurt on anyone who is trying to

         17  perpetrate one of these crimes. And as far as I

         18  know, it hasn't happened. I hate to ambush you with

         19  this but we just found out yesterday, and if you

         20  need to get more information back to us, well,

         21  that's fine. But as far as we know, that hasn't

         22  happened, and we're wondering if you can't use it,

         23  if there's a problem using it, if there is a reason

         24  why we haven't been referring cases to the Corp

         25  Counsel? If the Corp Counsel were here, I would be
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          2  asking them why they haven't used it.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I don't

          4  know that there's a problem with the way the statute

          5  is written. If it's a situation where an individual,

          6  you know, has committed a heinous crime against

          7  somebody and the Police Department has arrested him,

          8  well, hopefully that individual is going to be in

          9  jail for a lot of years, and they're not going to be

         10  in a position to pay a dollar or $10 or $100,000 to

         11  the City. So, that may be one of the reasons it

         12  doesn't happen.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you have any

         14  information with you about referral to the Corp

         15  Counsel by your commission for civil suits?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: We deal

         17  with the Corp Counsel on a regular basis. They're

         18  familiar with what we do. We're familiar with what

         19  they do. Have we actually said to the Corporation

         20  Counsel, hey, I think you should look at this case

         21  and bring a case in Supreme Court to get a fine? No,

         22  we haven't done that. We would just do it ourselves

         23  so-to-speak. If the case was appropriate for a fine,

         24  the Commissioner would order a fine to the City.

         25  That's within our power to do.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. Well,

          3  we'll follow-up with a writing and get some

          4  information from both you and the Corp Counsel,

          5  maybe Commissioner Petito also.

          6                 We also introduced a law, we are

          7  introducing a resolution which we discussed equating

          8  a noose under the law with swastikas and burning

          9  crosses. It's not something that you were prepared

         10  to talk about today, but do either the Human Rights

         11  Commission or the Police Department have a position

         12  on asking Albany to do that?

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Can you just

         14  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's a felony

         16  right now to use a swastika or a burning cross to

         17  intimidate.

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We'd like to

         20  equate, ask them to basically add a noose to that

         21  provision.

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes, I think

         23  it would be rational. I think that the noose is a

         24  vile symbol, if you are an African-American, and if

         25  you have any knowledge of the brutality of slavery
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          2  over 400 years. Particularly, I believe the stats

          3  are since 1880 to present over 4,000 lynchings were

          4  performed.

          5                 It's very interesting when you

          6  actually work hate crimes you get to understand the

          7  fear, not just the offensive nature, but the fear

          8  that a swastika produces, and you also get to

          9  understand the fear that the noose produces in

         10  certain segments of society.

         11                 So, yes, I think it's reasonable for

         12  me, or for anybody, to support that. I think that

         13  would be a very good idea.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Once again you

         15  said it much better than I did.  At the press

         16  conference I'm going to bring you around with me.

         17                 Do you have any position on that law,

         18  Mr. Mulqueen?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN:

         20  Obviously, I would have to agree with Mr. Osgood

         21  with what he said.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's a smart

         23  position. Okay.

         24                 My last question, and then if my

         25  Co-chairs have any follow-ups, and then after that
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          2  we'll be done, is you came up with one improvement

          3  to the existing laws, Inspector, already which would

          4  be you seeking the power to prosecute these crimes

          5  without a victim, and we're already working on that.

          6                 Do you have any other ways we can

          7  give you the tools you need or improve some of these

          8  laws that might help you?

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Well, there

         10  were several suggestions that from my experience of

         11  five years, that I would offer.

         12                 One of the other suggestions is that

         13  of creating what I would call an aggravated gang

         14  harassment felony. Right now you could have, say, 15

         15  offenders go and approach somebody of a different

         16  identity, two or three will go and engage in

         17  fighting them. They could be arrested. The other

         18  ones would shout racial epithets. It's been very

         19  difficult to bring an "acting in concert" case in

         20  several key cases in the City over the last four or

         21  five years and I think it will be beneficial to the

         22  community to have an aggravated gang harassment

         23  felony statute, where that if you're in a group and

         24  you choose to stay in that group, and if you choose

         25  to harass somebody because of their identity, and
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          2  members of that group commit criminality, you should

          3  be liable with them. You know, walk away from that

          4  group. Don't be a part of it. Don't shout any racial

          5  epithets.

          6                 Right now those are very difficult

          7  cases to go and bring, to try to bring an "acting in

          8  concert" argument with the main perpetrators inside

          9  that group.

         10                 Also, we may want to, as a suggestion

         11  we may want to consider expanding the juvenile

         12  offender category. If in certain cases, and only in

         13  severe cases, if you are a 13, 14, 15 year old and

         14  you commit a very serious hate crime, we may want to

         15  try you as an adult.

         16                 To get a Family Court, bring it into

         17  Criminal Court, once again only for very serious

         18  acts, you know, but if you're 15 years old and you

         19  decide to do a very serious hate crime, I think you,

         20  you know, if you choose to do that I think you

         21  should be tried as an adult and to not to go to

         22  Family Court.

         23                 So, those are some suggestions from

         24  observations over the last five years, based on

         25  various cases that I've been a part of.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          3                 I agree completely regarding the gang

          4  one. In fact, we tried that when it comes to gang

          5  recruitment. I do have a bill in to punish that as a

          6  crime. And we ran into many of the same issues,

          7  unfortunately, with that law, the constitutional

          8  issues regarding identifying a gang and we've pretty

          9  much hit a roadblock on that.

         10                 But we do agree with you, and it's

         11  just a very tough thing to define, when you talk

         12  about a gang and substantial assistance, and how do

         13  you prove that without encapturing people who may

         14  not be guilty.

         15                 But I happen to agree with you, and

         16  can you continue to work to see if there is a way to

         17  continue to do that?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         20  Seabrook.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         22  much, Mr. Chair. Just a couple of questions I think

         23  which raises some real concern that I think you've

         24  given us pretty good notice of.  And just to the

         25  point of clarification, to my colleague Jimmy Oddo,
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          2  in my years in the Legislature, we have doubled the

          3  maximum and minimum penalties on a lot of the

          4  criminal cases that we've had in the penal law. So

          5  there is quite a bit of people serve a lot of time.

          6  They're not getting off. There's a lot of time

          7  that's given people for committing those other

          8  crimes.

          9                 But I think the seriousness of the

         10  hate crimes that's so important, because of the

         11  profile that you talked about, this 14 to 21 years

         12  of age, and I think that that's significant for us

         13  to understand. Because these are not emancipated

         14  individuals. They live with someone. They're in the

         15  custody of parents or whatever.

         16                 It's important for us to look at the

         17  educational factor in tying that in. Because this is

         18  very significant, fourteen to 21 years of age, when

         19  there is a State law that says they should be

         20  educated about the Holocaust, about slavery,

         21  diversity and all of these in the public school

         22  system that's on the books now, that's dealing with

         23  this age group, that we need to hone in, focus on

         24  and deal with because you have to be taught to hate

         25  and fear. You have to be taught from year-to-year.

                                                            85

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  So, here is an opportunity for the Education

          3  Department because this profile needs to be

          4  highlighted for our educational system to begin to

          5  refocus on how it's going to combat this.

          6                 And the interesting thing about it,

          7  just two other things, I had the opportunity, and

          8  you raise the issue about democracies in places

          9  where they are not, and I saw in going to Russia the

         10  rise of anti-Semitism, and I was only there less

         11  than eight or ten years, the rise of it, as if it

         12  was okay, and I have students in class who say some

         13  anti-Semitic things because they think it's okay.

         14                 And, so, that level of behavior and

         15  the socialization there and over here is a part of

         16  that 14- to 21-year-old profile that you're talking

         17  about.

         18                 Interesting, when I was in Cuba, it's

         19  seven years in jail for actually discrimination. I

         20  was in shock, that you actually go to jail for seven

         21  years for discrimination, and because of previous

         22  discrimination that took place there. So, it's very

         23  interesting of how that's addressed. And I think

         24  that when you've got 14 to 21 years of age, we have

         25  to look at those parents. You know, I grew up in a
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          2  New York City Housing Project, and if we decided to

          3  ride our bikes, or if we broke a window, the parents

          4  were charged on their rent bill. So, we knew not to

          5  because you knew what would happen to you.

          6                 These are un-emancipated individuals

          7  that you have profiled, 14 to 21. We need to begin

          8  to rethink our approach in what you have -- and I

          9  might add just here, I certainly want to compliment

         10  you on your testimony or your understanding of the

         11  importance and how we must focus on this issue of

         12  hate crimes, and the dynamics of it historically.

         13  And I think that the Commissioner Kelly should be

         14  commended for appointing you to this position,

         15  because I think that you clearly understand the

         16  importance of it, and I think if given the

         17  opportunity of more manpower and resources that you

         18  could really do what has to be done.

         19                 But I want to commend you for the job

         20  that you're doing and understanding for which you

         21  have a serious problem that will face this nation,

         22  this City, and you are the guy that should be there,

         23  and I want to thank you for that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I don't have any

         25  questions. However, I would like to commend you on
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          2  your testimony, and I would like to reach out to

          3  you, or you reach out to me, I would like to do a

          4  forum in my district on hate crimes.

          5                 I, every three months or so I do what

          6  we call a police forum whereby we talk about how one

          7  should react to when they stop by police or how we

          8  should communicate with police. And I think this

          9  will be an added topic that we can explore, and if

         10  you can at least assist me in terms of bringing out

         11  speakers to speak on hate crimes at this forum, it

         12  would be great for us.

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Sure.

         14  Absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, I would like

         16  you to at least reach out to me, or I'll reach out

         17  to you at my earliest convenience.

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         21  much, Inspector.

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR OSGOOD: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And thank you

         24  very much, Deputy Commissioner. I appreciate it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We've been
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          2  joined by Council Member Mendez, and I know that

          3  Katz was in the corner and Foster was here.

          4                 And our next representative will be

          5  from the Brooklyn District Attorney's Office,

          6  Charles Guria, to be followed by a panel of

          7  advocates. And we haven't actually arranged that

          8  panel yet. There will be a few panels of advocates

          9  coming up.

         10                 I just wanted to apologize, I have a

         11  previously scheduled meeting with the Police

         12  Department regarding some other new laws they'd like

         13  introduced which I will need to step away for for

         14  some time, but then I'll be back.

         15                 Mr. Guria, thank you for joining us.

         16                 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

         17  GURIA: Thank you for inviting me.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Yes, go ahead.

         19                 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

         20  GURIA: Good afternoon, Chairs Larry Seabrook, Peter

         21  Vallone, Jr., and Kendall Stewart and Council

         22  members. On behalf of the Office of the Kings County

         23  District Attorney Charles J. Hynes, I would like to

         24  thank the Civil Rights Committee, the Public Safety

         25  Committee and the Immigration Committee for inviting
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          2  us to present our views on combatting hate crimes.

          3                 My name is Charles M. Guria, and I'm

          4  the Executive Assistant District Attorney and Chief

          5  of the Civil Rights, Bureau of the Kings County

          6  District Attorney's Office.

          7                 The Civil Rights Bureau has the

          8  primary responsibility within the District

          9  Attorney's Office for investigating and prosecuting

         10  hate crimes in the Borough of Brooklyn.

         11                 The Civil Rights Bureau is part of

         12  District Attorney Hynes's Rackets Division. Michael

         13  Vecchione is the head of the entire Rackets Division

         14  which consists of the Special Prosecutions Units of

         15  the District Attorney's Office. The Kings County

         16  District Attorney's Office Civil Rights Bureau is

         17  currently headed by myself, a chief, and with a

         18  Deputy Bureau Chief and with four Assistant District

         19  Attorneys. Prosecutors and personnel from the

         20  Rackets Division and other areas of the Kings County

         21  District Attorney's Office augment the staff of the

         22  Civil Rights Bureau as needed on a case-by-case

         23  basis.

         24                 We work hand-in-hand with the Hate

         25  Crimes Task Force of the NYPD. I speak with
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          2  Inspector Osgood, as he indicated, probably on a

          3  weekly basis.

          4                 District Attorney Charles Hynes was a

          5  pioneer in the area of hate crimes prosecution. As a

          6  special prosecutor appointed by then Governor Mario

          7  Cuomo, he led the successful investigation and

          8  prosecution of the racial assault in the Howard

          9  Beach case 20 years ago.

         10                 His investigation and prosecution has

         11  been a model for other hate crimes prosecutions. So,

         12  since I worked for him, I worked for a boss who

         13  knows what crimes prosecutions is about.

         14                 Now, the District Attorney's Office

         15  has had a Hate Crimes Civil Rights Bureau since

         16  District Attorney Hynes has been in office. He had

         17  the first Civil Rights Bureau in the City of New

         18  York, and he's prosecuting cases in Crown Heights

         19  and in Bensonhurst, prior to there even being the

         20  Hate Crimes Statute.

         21                 I'm not going to go into all the

         22  statistics I put in. I think Inspector Osgood and

         23  other people have covered them, and in the effort

         24  for saving time, I'm just going to go into some of

         25  the areas.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thanks for that.

          3  We know you have ten pages of testimony. It will be

          4  put into the record, but we do have a few panels, so

          5  thank you very much for that.

          6                 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

          7  GURIA: What I am going to say is, we have seen a

          8  number of things, what I'm going to talk about will

          9  essentially piggy-back a number of things that

         10  Inspector Osgood has said.

         11                 We need community support for any

         12  hate crimes prosecutions. And one of the things that

         13  some of the chairs here have asked about is

         14  education. Our office believes that education is not

         15  just important for the potential offender, but it's

         16  also important for people in the community,

         17  potential jurors, and potential witnesses to hate

         18  crime situations.

         19                 The District Attorney has put a lot

         20  of effort into trying to do programs and innovations

         21  in the community that combat hate crimes and also

         22  anti-drug messages. We have programs in the New York

         23  City school system where members of the District

         24  Attorney's office go out and they spread two

         25  messages: that it's wrong to get involved with
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          2  drugs, and also it is wrong to hate somebody because

          3  of what their identity is. We've been doing programs

          4  like this for the last 18 years, since District

          5  Attorney Hynes has been in office, and we'll

          6  continue to do them.

          7                 We're in every public school in

          8  Brooklyn and we're in many of the parochial schools

          9  and private schools, as well.

         10                 We also go out and I speak, and other

         11  members of my staff speak on a regular basis to

         12  community groups so they understand what hate crimes

         13  are, how to report them and also for them to

         14  understand what is a hate crime and what is not a

         15  hate crime, and this is very, very important,

         16  because as numbers go up, there are two things that

         17  I believe are going on. One, I believe, that we have

         18  seen spikes, because as the Inspector says, when you

         19  have notorious incidents in other parts of the

         20  country, and other parts of the City, sometimes you

         21  have copycats.

         22                 But what I also feel is, one of the

         23  things that happens is through the success of the

         24  Hate Crimes Task Force and through successful

         25  prosecutions, more people who have been victims of
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          2  hate crimes are willing to come forward. With the

          3  advent of more ways to report hate crimes, then the

          4  statistics are also going higher.

          5                 One of the things that I have seen

          6  also is that when you have a successful prosecution,

          7  people who believed that no one seriously in the

          8  government took hate crimes seriously, when they see

          9  a successful prosecution, you see other people

         10  saying maybe what happened to me will be taken

         11  seriously as well.

         12                 We also have the largest number of

         13  victim counselors of any District Attorney's Office

         14  in the City. One of the things I think has helped us

         15  tremendously with victims of hate crimes, is aside

         16  from just having district attorneys, having

         17  paralegals, having other staff members working on

         18  these cases, we have trained individuals who come

         19  and add their expertise to working with people of

         20  different types of backgrounds and different types

         21  of communities, to get them to be comfortable enough

         22  to tell some of the most horrendous stories of acts

         23  that have been perpetrated against them.

         24                 These people work hand-in-hand with

         25  the detectives of the Hate Crimes Task Force, they
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          2  work hand-in-hand with the prosecutors and they

          3  assist these victims from the moment they enter the

          4  District Attorney's Office all the way through the

          5  advent of the criminal charges and all the way

          6  through the cases going before juries, and also

          7  often work with them for the devastation that will

          8  last with them for years after the event.

          9                 I believe that this way of doing

         10  prosecutions and having all of these different

         11  components has greatly assisted us in being able to

         12  combat hate crimes.

         13                 Now, as I indicated there are a

         14  number of statistics that the inspector talked

         15  about. The most chilling one that I'll talk about is

         16  the one involving youth.

         17                 As we have seen, that the average

         18  offender age is between 13 and 22 years of age, this

         19  is disturbing to me because the majority of people

         20  that we run into that are committing hate crimes

         21  aren't old enough to have a New York State Learners

         22  permit, but they're out here committing hate crimes.

         23                 We have been involved in situations

         24  where we have seen individuals who have perpetrated

         25  hate crimes, who were brought along to commit their
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          2  hate crimes with older siblings. We see that in many

          3  instances they have learned to hate in the place

          4  where they spend a great deal of time, they learn it

          5  at home. They learn it from siblings, they learn it

          6  from other friends, they learn it from people in

          7  their community.

          8                 So, I understand what Inspector

          9  Osgood says about there have to be severe penalties.

         10  I agree. When there is violence and people are

         11  injured, there have to be severe penalties. But in

         12  other situations where we find that there are people

         13  who are young, and they are followers, one of the

         14  things we have tried to do is try to divert them

         15  into any type of program that we can find that can

         16  teach them about how wrong it is to hate.

         17                 We have through community

         18  organizations, churches, the Holocaust Park Museum,

         19  things like that, we have sentenced people to where

         20  if they don't complete the sentence, they will go to

         21  jail, but if they do complete the sentence, which

         22  involves talking to Holocaust survivors, people who

         23  are the victim of hate crimes, in those situations

         24  where we judge the person to be someone who is more

         25  of a follower, in those situations we have seen
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          2  amazing results.

          3                 And who we rely on to give us the

          4  reports of the success are often people of the group

          5  that they victimize, who are pretty tough judges of

          6  whether or not these individuals have been

          7  rehabilitated.

          8                 Also, we have seen in this situation,

          9  it's an amazing phenomenon, many of these people who

         10  are engaged in hate crimes are too young to be

         11  charged as adults by the District Attorney's office.

         12  Many of them can only be prosecuted by the

         13  Corporation Counsel in Family Court, and so what

         14  happens is we often inherited people who have

         15  committed many of these acts as juveniles and then

         16  we will see them later if someone does not

         17  intervene, educate them or redirect them in another

         18  direction.

         19                 There was also questions earlier by

         20  members of the Council about under-reporting. I

         21  agree, you cannot investigate or prosecute the

         22  incident that you never know about.

         23                 As I've said, we've increased ways

         24  for people to report hate crimes, and I believe that

         25  as we have gotten better at that, more people are
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          2  coming forward.

          3                 We also, as the District Attorney's

          4  Office, we have had a policy, we do not report

          5  individuals who are undocumented. We do not ask the

          6  status of any individual as to whether or not they

          7  are a legal or an illegal immigrant here.

          8                 I have been involved in both hate

          9  crimes and also in immigration fraud cases, and we

         10  have never, in all the time that we've done these

         11  cases, inquired about that for a witness or a

         12  victim, and we have successfully prosecuted people,

         13  recovered money and also prosecuted people and put

         14  them in prison without ever asking what the

         15  background of the individuals are.

         16                 Despite me saying that is many of the

         17  perpetrators hope that individuals will not come

         18  forward. It is my belief that in the case of Michael

         19  Sandy, a case where we recently prosecuted, if those

         20  individuals had successfully lured Michael Sandy to

         21  that location in Plum Beach and robbed him and he

         22  had not been killed, they were going to rely on the

         23  fact that he would probably have been too

         24  embarrassed to report the fact that he had been

         25  victimized.
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          2                 We run into that all the time,

          3  especially with certain groups who believe that they

          4  will be judged for their background.

          5                 I will tell you that the individuals

          6  in the Kings County DA's office are not there to

          7  judge you, they're there to help you, and that's the

          8  theme that we always try and do with any community

          9  that we're there to help.

         10                 And if these cases have such

         11  far-reaching consequences, as I've indicated before,

         12  while I believe that punishment is the stick, we

         13  also have to have a carrot. And as far as I'm

         14  concerned, in these circumstances, you have to have

         15  effective education, as I've indicated. We have a

         16  program called Project Legal Lives, it is in Kings

         17  County. It's also being replicated in other

         18  jurisdictions, and I believe that programs like

         19  that, and programs that we've kind of put together

         20  on a case-by-case basis, that help try and divert

         21  people away from being involved in hate are

         22  necessary.

         23                 I notice that in some of the federal

         24  laws that are being asked for, there are funds that

         25  may be available for grants for the education of
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          2  juveniles. I can think of nothing that may be more

          3  important, because while we can prosecute the people

          4  who go and strike people who assault people, who

          5  kill people in these crimes, there still has to be a

          6  way to divert the people to keep the ones who

          7  haven't gotten to that point yet, to try and divert

          8  them into other areas.

          9                 As Inspector Osgood talked about

         10  that, you know, a group of people hanging out on the

         11  street, and they get the idea to go attack somebody,

         12  well, if there is something, some alternative to

         13  them just hanging out on the street corner, and they

         14  can be in some kind of program, then that is one of

         15  the things also I think is consistent with what

         16  sociologists say, that there are ways that you can

         17  redivert people and keep them.

         18                 The ones who are the worst of the

         19  worst are always going to be the ones that the

         20  District Attorney's Office will prosecute and the

         21  Police will go out and find. There are another group

         22  out here, there is a group out here that may

         23  possibly be saved, and I think through the efforts

         24  of committees like this, there are many, many more

         25  forums that can be done, there are many efforts that
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          2  can be done so we can focus on that.

          3                 But as I indicated, I know other

          4  people have to speak. I know it's a long morning,

          5  and I stand ready if you have any questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, first of

          7  all, I want to thank you for coming to testify, and

          8  I also wanted to certainly say that District

          9  Attorney Hynes has certainly been an innovator in

         10  creating a lot of the programs, and he certainly

         11  must be commended for some of the things that he

         12  does. And I was a member of the Legislature when he

         13  dealt with the Howard Beach issue and was a special

         14  prosecutor. So, I certainly commend the fine and

         15  outstanding work and the diligence that you all have

         16  put with the programs, and I'm glad that you

         17  addressed that issue about the profile of those

         18  individuals that we really have to focus on. So, I

         19  just want to say thanks for being here and certainly

         20   --

         21                 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

         22  GURIA: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: -- Send my

         24  regards to the District Attorney.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just have one
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          2  question, because I asked this to the Inspector that

          3  was here and he went into it a little bit. But I

          4  feel that as the District Attorney's Office, you

          5  might be able to answer this question.

          6                 Do you recommend any changes to the

          7  existing hate crimes laws that are currently in the

          8  books now?

          9                 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

         10  GURIA: I agree with Inspector Osgood, sometimes

         11  definitions are important and we do run into some

         12  problems with courts having difficulty with

         13  determining what is substantial.

         14                 I would also say, though, as an

         15  attorney who stood before judges, you always have to

         16  be careful, because one of the problems that I find,

         17  and many judges will say, if it's not specifically

         18  mentioned, then it wasn't meant to be covered.

         19                 So, there is always a fine line. I

         20  applaud efforts to add the noose, which is a hated

         21  symbol. But what I also caution is, there could be

         22  other symbols out there that are not being

         23  mentioned. Some court somewhere could construe that

         24  as to mean that they weren't meant to be covered.

         25  And I am quite sure that there are members of this
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          2  City who find certain symbols just as offensive as a

          3  swastika, just as offensive as a noose, and I think

          4  we should think carefully about, if we're going to

          5  overhaul laws, we should look at some of those other

          6  symbols and make sure they're covered, so if someone

          7  doesn't turn around and look at a prosecutor like me

          8  and say it's not in the statute, you can't charge

          9  it.

         10                 So that, in my position, that's one

         11  of the issues that I see.

         12                 With respect to 485 overall, it is

         13  one of the most expansive and covers the most groups

         14  of any hate crime law in this country, which is my

         15  understanding of why it took so long to get passed.

         16  We did not want to leave groups out.

         17                 There are still groups out there that

         18  don't feel like they're adequately covered by it.

         19  So, all I can say is, anything that needs to be

         20  added, I think you not only need to speak to

         21  prosecutors like myself, but also talk to the

         22  various communities out there to make sure that they

         23  believe that they are adequately covered as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I know that DA

         25  Hynes has a number of policies and initiatives in
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          2  the community, for example, the domestic violence,

          3  also alternative sentences and all those different

          4  things, but is there any initiative to deal with the

          5  school-based anti-hate crimes in schools or any

          6  forum like that that the DA has?

          7                 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

          8  GURIA: Yes.

          9                 Yes, starting in I believe shortly

         10  after he took office in 1989, he started the project

         11  Legal Lives. One of the tenets of that program in

         12  the curriculum, which was developed with the

         13  Department of Education, was in the Board of

         14  Education, is anti-bias. That it's wrong to hate any

         15  individual because of who they are. That has been

         16  taught in Brooklyn schools since 1989 or 1990. I

         17  have taught that message, all of my colleagues in

         18  the District Attorney's office have gone out, they

         19  work on a curriculum connected with lessons that are

         20  also taught by the regular school teachers.

         21                 It is geared towards primarily fifth

         22  grade. There were studies done in education that

         23  said that fifth graders were old enough to

         24  understand the message, but not so locked into the

         25  peer group, that the message would be delivered too
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          2  late to them. So, it is definitely delivered in that

          3  forum.

          4                 We also go into other schools, we

          5  just don't limit it to fifth graders. We go to other

          6  schools, but based on studies that were done, we

          7  geared it primarily to a group of kids to try and

          8  save them before they got into this kind of

          9  behavior.

         10                 The District Attorney felt if he

         11  could stop people from getting into bias incidents

         12  and involved in drugs, that he would rather have

         13  less clients in courts, you know, if he was able to

         14  do something along those lines.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just want to

         16  thank you for being here today and coming in and

         17  giving your testimony. And I want to say publicly

         18  that I want to thank you for your work you're doing

         19  in Brooklyn. You are an example to the other

         20  District Attorneys, I can say that. I think I can

         21  say that, because of the different programs that

         22  we're doing in Brooklyn and all the different areas,

         23  in terms of like domestic violence and the

         24  alternative sentences and all of those things that

         25  DA Hynes is doing, and I want to commend you for
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          2  those type of services.

          3                 Once again, thank you for your

          4  testimony.

          5                 EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

          6  GURIA: Thank you very much for having me.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 The next panel is Kim Fountain, Joel

         10  Levy and Michael Miller.

         11                 Okay.

         12                 MS. FOUNTAIN: Okay, thank you,

         13  Chairpersons Seabrook and Stewart, and I guess

         14  Vallone, who I would like to thank on the record,

         15  and the other Council members.

         16                 I am giving testimony on behalf of

         17  the New York City Gay and Lesbian Anti-Violence

         18  Project. My name is Kim Fountain, and I am the

         19  Director of Community Organizing and Public

         20  Advocacy, and I have been with the agency for seven

         21  years, so I've seen a lot of hate violence.

         22                 Twenty-seven years ago the

         23  Anti-Violence Project came into existence to respond

         24  to a lack of NYPD response to hate violence,

         25  motivated -- well, hate motivated violence, I
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          2  apologize, toward gay men. And regarding this

          3  testimony here, I'm skipping a little bit because

          4  these folks have said these very things.

          5                 So, we want to make clear that it's

          6  our grave hope that, you know, that eventually we

          7  can confront this horridly and cowardly form of

          8  violence in different ways, and that the Hate Crimes

          9  Task Force has acted as a true partner with

         10  community-based organizations, such as ours,

         11  allowing victims of hate crimes to more fully

         12  experience justice.

         13                 I also want to say that what follows

         14  should be heard as suggestions, knowing that the

         15  NYPD has a very difficult job to do.

         16                 So, the current issue that the

         17  Anti-Violence Project has been working to resolve

         18  occurs during the initial NYPD response to hate

         19  crime. And officers bring their own bias to work

         20  just as we all do. The difficulty for our

         21  communities, especially those affected by hate

         22  motivated violence is that too often the exchange

         23  between the officer and the victims leads to

         24  revictimization, and the report that does not

         25  reflect the bias motivation during a crime.
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          2                 What has been brought to our

          3  attention through our work is that responding

          4  officers often have a lack of training concerning

          5  State and City hate crimes laws and NYPD protocols

          6  and policies, and because of this lack of training,

          7  combined at times with a lack of willingness to

          8  classify a clear incident of bias, reports are often

          9  incomplete.

         10                 In addition, when the reports are

         11  made to the NYPD that includes information about the

         12  use of anti-LGBT use of language, officers often

         13  aggressively and accusatorily responded, "Well, are

         14  you?" effectively shutting a victim down. Okay?

         15                 And we understand that officers want

         16  to know more about the victim, but when they ask in

         17  an accusatory and aggressive tone whether or not

         18  somebody is LGBT identified, it will immediately

         19  shut a victim down.

         20                 We also want to say that the

         21  Anti-Violence Project in collaboration with Hate

         22  Crimes Task Force and the Community Affairs Unit is

         23  doing its part through roll call trainings and

         24  assertive follow-up with precincts in which officers

         25  have had poor responses to LGTB hate victims, but we
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          2  don't really have the necessary human, material and

          3  time resources to effect the level of change truly

          4  necessary with respect to hate crimes.

          5                 At the Anti-Violence Project, we are

          6  fully aware that a comprehensive strategy that will

          7  address hate-motivated violence is necessary. And to

          8  this end, we seek to accentuate already existing

          9  services, as well as to develop new linkages that

         10  will include community-based agencies working on

         11  anti-oppression strategies, the criminal justice

         12  systems, law enforcement, City leadership and the

         13  NYC community at-large. We must work together if we

         14  have any hopes of making this city a safe place for

         15  all its residents and communities.

         16                 And I want to also say that, and

         17  different from the testimony given here, I've heard

         18  a lot about very different ideas on what should

         19  happen in terms of penalty enhancement. And the

         20  Anti-Violence Project doesn't formally support

         21  penalty enhancement, solely because of the way the

         22  penalty enhancements actually we feel further

         23  accentuate the drawbacks of our criminal justice

         24  system as it currently exists.

         25                 And that is that we feel that our
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          2  criminal justice system tends to be very biased in

          3  penalizing mainly poor communities and communities

          4  of color, and that these are the folks who are in

          5  jail longer.

          6                 And, so, we support strong

          7  educational efforts, and that, you know, education

          8  has many forms, and we believe that part of the

          9  problem with hate-motivated violence is that, yes,

         10  it does start in communities and start in homes and

         11  start in schools and things like this, but that if

         12  we can get out and really educate folks and make

         13  them feel like they're part of a larger community,

         14  that's what's important to us. To see that, we

         15  always say folks aren't beaten up because they're

         16  gay, right? Folks are beaten up because somebody is

         17  homophobic, and that's the type of education we're

         18  looking to address, about responsibility toward the

         19  people around you, and to help instill a sense of

         20  self-worth in somebody so that they don't feel like

         21  they have to harm the other person, based on their

         22  own prejudice.

         23                 So, I'll keep it short. Thank you.

         24                 MR. LEVY: Good afternoon. My name is

         25  Joel Levy. I'm the New York Director of the

                                                            110

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  Anti-Defamation League, and I want to thank you for

          3  inviting the Anti-Defamation League to have this

          4  opportunity to testify before the City Council.

          5                 The Anti-Defamation League has a

          6  two-part mission, to stop the defamation of the

          7  Jewish people and to secure justice and fair

          8  treatment to all citizens alike.

          9                 As a result, we're equally concerned

         10  by the increase and anti-Semitic incidence,

         11  swastikas assaults, anti-Semitic slurs, as we are by

         12  the number of nooses plaguing our City.

         13                 These crimes demand priority

         14  attention because of their special impact. Bias

         15  incidents are designed to intimidate the victim and

         16  the members of the victims' community, leaving them

         17  feeling isolated, vulnerable and unprotected by the

         18  law.

         19                 Failure to address this unique type

         20  of crime could cause an isolated incident to explode

         21  into widespread community attention.

         22                 As we confront these numerous acts of

         23  hate, we wish to applaud the actions of the New

         24  York's District Attorneys, New York Police

         25  Department, and particularly the Hate Crimes Task
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          2  Force, for relentlessly pursuing the perpetrators

          3  and focusing on these fines, which have a particular

          4  and damaging effect on New York City's communities.

          5                 We commend the Mayor for making it

          6  known to all groups concerned that he has a zero

          7  tolerance policy toward hate crimes.

          8                 We also thank Speaker Quinn for

          9  calling the press conference and hearing and stand

         10  in solidarity with her against such bigotry.

         11                 The Anti-Defamation League would like

         12  to offer its name and programs to the Anti-Hate Day

         13  scheduled to take place in New York City on November

         14  29th, 2007. Through our Partnership with the

         15  Department of Education, we will be asking over

         16  25,000 students and educators who are involved in

         17  our programs to sign and abide by the principles

         18  outlined in the ADL's Resolution of Respect.

         19                 Finally, we'd like to touch upon the

         20  subject of this hearing, the proposed amendments to

         21  Chapter 1 of Title 10 of New York City's

         22  Administrative Code, as an organization which led

         23  the effort to implement federal hate crimes

         24  legislation, we recognize the importance of amending

         25  the current law to include a civil penalty, and
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          2  applaud the City Council's efforts to recognize the

          3  repercussions of hate crime on a community in doing

          4  so.

          5                 We suggest, however, that the words

          6  "annoy" and "alarm" be stricken from the record and

          7  the word "intimidate" be added. We believe such

          8  changes will strengthen the legislation against

          9  constitutional challenges.

         10                 In addition, we recommend that a line

         11  be included to require City data collection on hate

         12  crimes, and to provide training to police officers

         13  handling such acts of bias.

         14                 We also support legislation to modify

         15  New York State law to prohibit the public display of

         16  a noose with the intent to threaten or harass.

         17                 Finally, regarding Resolution No.

         18  773-A, we commend the Council of the City of New

         19  York for calling upon Congress to enact the local

         20  law enforcement Hate Crimes Prevention Act of 2007,

         21  and hope to see these efforts come to fruition in

         22  the near future.

         23                 I would be happy to have any

         24  questions.

         25                 MR. MILLER: Chairman Stewart,
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          2  Chairman Seabrook, Chairman Vallone in absentia,

          3  Speaker Quinn and absentia, as well, members of the

          4  City Council, I'm Michael Miller. I'm Executive Vice

          5  President and CEO of the Jewish Community Relations

          6  Council. To my right is Dr. Sally Goodgold, who is

          7  the Chair of the JCRC's Commission on Jewish

          8  Security, and with your permission, who will add a

          9  few words at the end of my testimony. I thank you

         10  for inviting us to testify here today.

         11                 Hate crimes, as I said outdoors at

         12  the press conference, have an especially corrosive

         13  effect on our society. They are crimes that

         14  transcend their immediate victims and can weaken and

         15  even rend the very fabric of our society. They are

         16  contagious. Racial slurs beget more racial slurs,

         17  swastikas generate additional swastikas and nooses

         18  bring about other nooses.

         19                 Hate crimes against property are bad

         20  enough because of the psychological harm they wreak.

         21  Hate crimes against individuals, particularly those

         22  that involve assaults, beatings and worse cause even

         23  longer lasting damage.

         24                 The JCRC has learned that to combat

         25  hate, police, political, religious, civic and
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          2  educational leaders must work together to address

          3  this cancer that gnaws on our society.

          4                 One of the first significant goals of

          5  the JCRC after its founding in 1976 was to seek the

          6  establishment of what became the Bias Incident

          7  Investigating Unit, BIIU, of the NYPD. From its

          8  inception in 1980, the BIIU made a difference. Busy

          9  precinct detectives no longer were forced to choose

         10  whether to investigate racially charged graffiti or

         11  to pursue a robber or a killer. Moreover, the

         12  detectives at the BIIU were not onlay exceptional

         13  investigators, but they were recruited because of

         14  their sensitivity to and concern for the victims of

         15  these heinous acts. This essential, but indeed

         16  incredible balance, continues today.

         17                 Through the BIIU, the NYPD sent a

         18  clear message that hate crimes would not be

         19  tolerated in New York City. At the same time, the

         20  JCRC worked with others, including Speaker Quinn

         21  before she entered public life, to give prosecutors

         22  in New York the tools to effectively prosecute hate

         23  crimes.

         24                 During its 27-year history, the BIIU

         25  has grown into the Hate Crimes Task Force and has
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          2  improved on an already stellar record. It is both

          3  responsive and effective.

          4                 Commissioner Kelly has made it clear

          5  that they can secure the resources that they need to

          6  investigate hate crimes and to prosecute the

          7  offenders.

          8                 It is sometimes frustrating to remind

          9  ourselves that the NYPD and the Hate Crimes Task

         10  Force can only act if there is a crime. The Hate

         11  Crimes Task Force now trains NYPD commanders and

         12  supervisors to recognize possible hate crimes and

         13  bring its resources to bear on the investigation.

         14                 Sometimes citizens are frustrated

         15  that they know that hate is the motive, but the

         16  evidence, unfortunately, does not support that

         17  conclusion.

         18                 We understand that the underlying act

         19  is still a crime, and that those responsible should

         20  be prosecuted to the full extent of the law.

         21                 The NYPD can and does make our

         22  streets safe, but they cannot meet the challenge of

         23  hate alone. Last month, the person or persons

         24  unknown drew 22 swastikas and wrote hateful messages

         25  in the heart of Brooklyn Heights on synagogues,
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          2  streets, cars and buildings, between eight and nine

          3  p.m. A similar number of hate messages were scrawled

          4  around Murray Bergtraum High School, just down the

          5  block here in Manhattan, during class changes.

          6                 Two swastikas were scrawled on the

          7  Marquis and Hotsola Ambulance (phonetic) in front of

          8  the Young Israel of Hillcrest in Queens and just

          9  yesterday another swastika was drawn on the door of

         10  a Jewish Professor with expertise on the Holocaust

         11  at Columbia University Teachers College.

         12                 To date, no witnesses have come

         13  forward with information about any of these events.

         14  Even after the JCRC, the Anti-defamation League and

         15  the American Jewish Committee offered a $2,000

         16  reward, that Sally Goodgold will speak about in a

         17  moment, and the NYPD distributed thousands of

         18  circulars on the Brooklyn Heights episode. There is

         19  no information forthcoming.

         20                 As leaders and as citizens, we have

         21  to send a crystal clear signal that those who know

         22  something, and opt to withhold information, are

         23  themselves guilty.

         24                 The aftermath of the incident at the

         25  Young Israel of Hillcrest, serves, though, as an
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          2  excellent example of how we as leaders can react.

          3  Political, civic, ethnic, educational, religious

          4  leaders stood together to denounce the act and sent

          5  the message that they absolutely reject such

          6  intolerance in their community.

          7                 It is incumbent upon leaders to speak

          8  out utilizing all available forums.

          9                 Finally, New Yorkers must look to

         10  their schools, public, private and parochial.

         11  Several questions were asked during the course of

         12  the hearing regarding the schools. Public

         13  expressions of hate by some perceived as leaders,

         14  such as some of the words spewed by Iranian

         15  President Ahmadinejad, can be viewed by young people

         16  as permission to commit more acts of hatred.

         17                 Sadly, most of the perpetrators of

         18  hate crimes are teenagers, as we learned here today.

         19  We should work together to develop programs to teach

         20  tolerance and respect for others.

         21                 And I might add, seeing school groups

         22  visiting here in the City Council Chamber earlier is

         23  very encouraging.

         24                 In truth, our society has traveled a

         25  long, long way toward achieving a harmonious
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          2  society. But these recent acts of hate show how much

          3  further we need to go. Together we can and will

          4  build a more civil society and a New York for all to

          5  share.

          6                 Again, I thank the City Council, the

          7  three committees that are sharing this hearing here

          8  today, and if I can ask if Sally can say a few

          9  words. Dr. Sally Goodgold.

         10                 DR. GOODGOLD: Thank you very much. In

         11  my multifaceted live on anti-crime, I'm not only the

         12  head of the Commission on Jewish Security, I am a

         13  member of the Board of Crime Stoppers, which is a

         14  unit of the detective unit in the Police Department.

         15  And when we decided to give the $10,000 reward,

         16  other than calling the Anti-Defamation League, and

         17  the American-Jewish Committee, I called Chief

         18  Detective in Crime Stoppers, and it was Co-chairman

         19  Vallone who wanted me to speak about Crime Stoppers,

         20  which many people don't understand.

         21                 The reason that I use Crime Stoppers

         22  to give the reward is that anyone who calls Crime

         23  Stoppers, 877-TIPS, remains anonymous. We do not

         24  have any caller ID in that unit of the Police

         25  Department, in the Detective Unit at all.
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          2                 We have no idea who is calling. When

          3  someone calls, they're given a four-digit number.

          4  That's who they're known as, you're known as 1234,

          5  period. We have no way of knowing who it is. We hold

          6  our meetings in a room without a phone, we never

          7  show anyone whom we are giving rewards to. It is

          8  done with silence. The Police Commissioner, the

          9  Mayor, nobody knows who those rewards go to, and we

         10  remain silent on it.

         11                 However, we get 16,000 calls a year,

         12  and we have been responsible for bringing in about

         13  30 percent of all of those people accused of murder

         14  this past year in this City.

         15                 So, one of the things other than

         16  sanctions that works is rewards, and we are giving

         17  the $10,000 reward because usually we get a great

         18  many calls. It's very upsetting that we have gotten

         19  none to date and I keep checking with the

         20  Department.

         21                 What we do is we do have two trucks

         22  that go around in the areas where these primes

         23  occur, and we hand out palm cards with all of the

         24  information that we can give.

         25                 And let me explain just one thing as

                                                            120

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  to why Crime Stoppers is the way that we give the

          3  money out. Our money is private money. It is given

          4  anonymously. You can be quite certain that those

          5  people probably never pay a tax on that money. If

          6  the Mayor gives an award, it is tax levy money, and

          7  Bill Thompson would want to know where that money

          8  went, so it can't go anonymously and therefore the

          9  people have to reveal who they are, pay taxes.

         10                 So, the reason we use Crime Stoppers

         11  is because if it's anonymity, nobody knows who gives

         12  us those tips. We hope we'll get some in the future.

         13  We're sending out the trucks all over the area again

         14  with more notices to see if we can bring some

         15  attention to this.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         18  much. Just a couple of questions.

         19                 Dr. Fountain, you raised the issue in

         20  reference to the lack of training by the Police

         21  Department, and I don't think the Police Department

         22  spoke to that need and that concern as focused. How

         23  is your organization, or is your organization

         24  interfacing with the Police Department to deal with

         25  those particular issues?
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          2                 DR. FOUNTAIN: Well, in about an hour

          3  or so we'll be going to do a roll call training at

          4  13th Precinct. We do roll call trainings as often as

          5  we can. We do trainings, I've done probably in the

          6  past several years over 100 trainings, many of them

          7  to law enforcement. I've done continuing law

          8  education trainings for District Attorneys. We are

          9  continually at meetings, coalition meetings. We're

         10  very heavy on the education aspect of fighting hate

         11  violence.

         12                 And, so, we meet with officers. We

         13  know Inspector Osgood very well and we're in

         14  constant contact. We're one of those organizations

         15  that finds working with the NYPD to be crucial. We

         16  absolutely value their work, but we're also here to

         17  say let's, through the client contact that we have,

         18  let's help you do a little bit better.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And the Police

         20  Department and the District Attorney's Office kind

         21  of gave a profile in that age group, which I think

         22  is very important; how has the educational system,

         23  or the Department of Education implemented a program

         24  to deal with those biases, those hate crimes and the

         25  issues, and gender issues, et cetera?
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          2                 DR. FOUNTAIN: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Do you want to

          4  talk about that?

          5                 DR. FOUNTAIN: Because it's such a

          6  sensitive topic, any time you bring up sexual

          7  orientation or gender within classroom settings, we

          8  usually go by invitation of teacher.

          9                 You know, mostly because we have yet

         10  to be able to find a way to bring our discussions in

         11  to speak solely about bias-related incidents against

         12  LGBT folks. Sometimes we talk about healthy

         13  relationships or intimate partner violence along

         14  those lines, but it's really difficult to get folks

         15  into a comfortable space to speak about sexual

         16  orientation and gender. Especially young folks,

         17  because people don't think they're thinking about

         18  that yet, and they think that we're influencing --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: But they're

         20  committing the crime.

         21                 DR. FOUNTAIN: Yes. Yes. It would be

         22  really nice if they made those connections. It's a

         23  slow process. We're trying to help folks understand

         24  that. And that if we give our youth more to do, and

         25  more productive ways of being members of the
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          2  society, that we're hoping maybe those hate crimes

          3  go down.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: So, perhaps we

          5  need to expand that State Statute. It's mostly

          6  inclusive in terms of education.

          7                 DR. FOUNTAIN: Yes. Well, you know, I

          8  understand the need to, you know, that there is

          9  going to be need for some folks who are on the

         10  fringes of society who are pretty extreme. You know,

         11  where they may need penalty enhancements.

         12                 But very much like Charles was

         13  mentioning, there are a whole lot of folks out there

         14  who are followers. There are a whole lot of folks

         15  out there who really through more things to do after

         16  school or more opportunities to be involved in, you

         17  know, in society in general as productive citizens,

         18  I think that would go a lot further than penalty

         19  enhancements.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay. Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 And then in reference to, the ADL had

         23  indicated that there should be some changes in terms

         24  of the statute of the law to be inclusive. Do you

         25  want to talk a little bit about it?
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          2                 MR. LEVY: Yes. We understand that

          3  legislation has been introduced to make the noose a

          4  category similar to the swastika and we support that

          5  in general. We have some very specific comments that

          6  I don't think are appropriate here --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right.

          8                 MR. LEVY: That we'll address to the

          9  New York State Assembly on some of the wording of

         10  that bill.

         11                 We don't think the wording is

         12  perfect, but the general concept we do support. We

         13  do think that's important. And we understand the

         14  City Council is considering also endorsing that

         15  change in the New York State law, and we would

         16  encourage you to do so.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay. And in

         18  reference to one of the things that we see in the

         19  report by the Police Department that they saw a

         20  tremendous spike in terms of anti-Semitism and

         21  swastikas; what do you attribute that to?

         22                 MR. MILLER: I think I mentioned, and

         23  Joel certainly can comment on it, as well, I had

         24  mentioned that Ahmadinejad, the President of Iran,

         25  coming to New York. People have identified him with
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          2  Nazi-like rhetoric. That, we think, might be one of

          3  the triggers. I had this discussion with Inspector

          4  Osgood. Nobody really knows, and, unfortunately, as

          5  Dr. Goodgold said, nobody has been arrested so we

          6  can't even find out from the people who perpetrated

          7  any of these swastikas scrawlings, which is very,

          8  very disturbing, considering how many there have

          9  been, similarly, of course, with the noose

         10  situation. But our best guess, it cascaded. As he

         11  said, it was clustering. So, all you needed was the

         12  first one to get moving and then others, the

         13  copycats, came forward. But it was so close to when

         14  the president of Iran was here in New York, we think

         15  that it was likely associated with that, there was

         16  nothing on television at that time related to the

         17  Holocaust, so that's the best guess we have.

         18                 Joel.

         19                 MR. LEVY: We agree with that. But I

         20  would also like to add the nooses also followed the

         21  terrible unfortunate incident in Jena, the same sort

         22  of an effect.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right.

         24                 MR. LEVY: And then I'd like to add to

         25  it, I do not want to blame the media. Some people
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          2  do. I think the media are doing their job, but the

          3  fact that the media cover that then encourages some

          4  more copycats to try to do it, and I think there is

          5  yet another element which Inspector Osgood referred

          6  to, the fact that people have so much confidence in

          7  the police, as they see the police really reacting

          8  to these things, there is also more reporting than

          9  might have otherwise taken place. I think all of

         10  those explain the current spike and clustering of

         11  incidents. We hope this wave will soon end, because

         12  it's quite terrible.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And, again, a

         14  number of those things, we had swastikas and other

         15  things that was used as graffiti that we just

         16  cleaned off of the building where my office is

         17  located, as well, and again, lack of reporting and

         18  people, you know, not doing this and the

         19  copycat-ism.

         20                 So, Michael.

         21                 MR. MILLER: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: This profile.

         23  This is what amazes me. That's why it's so

         24  important, the 14 to 21, and these are people who

         25  are in our educational system and we have a statute
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          2  that says that they should be educated about the

          3  Holocaust issue, they should be educated about

          4  slavery, and in most cases it's not being done. And

          5  these are kids who were 14 to 21 that this is not

          6  being dealt with the way that it should be being

          7  dealt with.

          8                 MR. MILLER: My commentary on that is

          9  it's not that it's not being done, with due respect,

         10  Mr. Chairman. It's not effectively communicated.

         11                 I think what we might want to take a

         12  look at is how it is being communicated, if it's

         13  being communicated at all, but likely it is, how

         14  effective the level of pedagogy is pertaining to

         15  hate crimes, whether it is a noose, whether it is a

         16  swastika, whether it is regarding sexual

         17  orientation, whether it's regarding some other

         18  symbol that's offensive, deeply offensive to other

         19  ethnic and religious communities here in New York?

         20                 New York today is different than we

         21  were growing up, and I think that the educational

         22  system needs to reflect the evolution of the

         23  communities of New York, and so I accept the

         24  criticism but I think that it's, I don't know, it's

         25  not directed to me, I'm not in the school system,
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          2  but nonetheless, I think we need to take a look at

          3  the manner in which the curricular approach to

          4  dealing with hate crimes and symbols, not just the

          5  physical crimes, but the symbolic crimes.

          6                 MR. LEVY: If I can just add a word to

          7  that? The Anti-Defamation League has very, very

          8  extensive educational programs aimed at addressing

          9  this problem.  We're involved through our World of

         10  Difference Institute in 48 schools actively in the

         11  City right now affecting many, many tens of

         12  thousands of students.  We also have another program

         13  that is in about 25 schools called "No Place For

         14  Hate." We have a very close partnership with the

         15  Department of Education, and we do a great deal but

         16  it is very clear, the Department itself tells us

         17  they don't always have adequate resources to do as

         18  much as they recognize needs to be done.

         19                 They do ask us in the wake of these

         20  incidents, we've been asked to go into Murray

         21  Bergtraum High School, we've been asked to go into

         22  Canarsie High School. Not only do we do it

         23  preventively in schools that they think need it, but

         24  after an incident we're asked to go in specifically

         25  and to try to help in those cases. We're doing the
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          2  same thing, by the way, at Columbia University. It's

          3  not only in the public school system, but it clearly

          4  is the case that the Department of Education does

          5  not have adequate resources, even though there is a

          6  commitment to doing something about the problem.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, that's

          8  what we're going to have to certainly address that

          9  issue, because that's the group that has been

         10  profiled, they're in our educational system, and

         11  that's doing this -- obviously we have to put

         12  resources there to deal with the issue, because it's

         13  a very serious issue that we're facing, and that's

         14  going to be our challenge.

         15                 MR. LEVY: I think that we would all

         16  appreciate that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I want to thank

         18  -- Oh, I'm sorry. I'm sorry.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just want to

         20  echo that. I get the feeling from this hearing today

         21  that, yes, in law enforcement they know how to

         22  detect and they know all about hate crimes and all

         23  of those things. And we teach them consistently. But

         24  I don't get the feel that the people who are

         25  potential victims, like maybe students or even the
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          2  folks that commit these crimes, they're being

          3  educated enough or we have a program that is

          4  systematic in schools and in places where we have

          5  folks that are not necessarily law enforcement, that

          6  they're being taught how to detect, how to avoid,

          7  how to deal with these things. And to me, maybe we

          8  don't have enough resources into the educational

          9  part of that aspect of hate crimes, and maybe we

         10  need to go back and deal with that.

         11                 As we see with the education, the

         12  laws are there for us to deal with in schools, but

         13  we're not really dealing with it in schools. We may

         14  have some entities that are really going in there

         15  and doing it when there is something or when

         16  something has occurred, as you said awhile ago, but

         17  there should be some form, some system whereby it is

         18  something that is done just like you teach history,

         19  you should be teaching about hate crimes and to deal

         20  with that. Just like you teach any other subject, I

         21  think that should be something that should be taught

         22  to all, because it's youngsters, 13 to 21. They

         23  should know about what is hate crime, and know the

         24  penalty for being involved in a hate crime. That's

         25  what I think. And I don't know if you have any
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          2  comment on that.

          3                 MR. LEVY: Just to fully agree with

          4  you. I think that's absolutely correct. We work very

          5  closely with the school system, with the Police

          6  Department, with the District Attorneys' Office. We

          7  have good cooperation, but there are not sufficient

          8  resources available in the education system to fully

          9  address the problem.

         10                 DR. FOUNTAIN: I'd like to also say

         11  that I think there needs to be a greater effort to

         12  bring the NYPD officers up to speed, in terms of

         13  really what a hate crime looks like and to really

         14  listen to folks without trying to be victimized. I

         15  think that education has to happen, because we just

         16  get too many complaints that people are afraid to

         17  report. And there should be some effort made to

         18  bring the NYPD into communities, to heal wounds

         19  around fear of the NYPD. You know, otherwise people

         20  won't be reporting.

         21                 MR. MILLER: My comment on it is

         22  reflective of what I said in my testimony. There is

         23  another level of education which I think is required

         24  and that is of the citizenry to report, not

         25  necessarily the person who was victimized, to report
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          2  a witness to what took place.

          3                 Again, from eight to nine p.m., an

          4  entire hour, 22 swastikas in I think it was 14

          5  different locations. And, yet, nobody, $10,000

          6  reward, nobody has stepped forward.

          7                 I think there is a lack of

          8  motivation, and I think that through the New York

          9  City Council, 51 members representing the full

         10  spectrum of the neighborhoods of New York, we need

         11  to inform, educate, motivate, our citizens and our

         12  guests and residents while they're here in New York.

         13  If something happens, step forward. Do it, as Sally

         14  said, do it anonymously, but step forward. They may

         15  not view a hate crime particularly if it's something

         16  which is scrawled, as similar to a physical attack,

         17  to an assault. That's part of the education as well,

         18  that's it's equally as hurtful, sometimes even more

         19  hurtful.

         20                 So, I look to the New York City

         21  Council, the Speaker, the Chairs and the members, to

         22  their leadership in this area. I think it would be

         23  greatly appreciated on the part of the communities

         24  we represent up here of New York.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, I agree
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          2  with you, because I find it very astounding that

          3  there has not been any report of any of these

          4  incidents, swastikas, nooses, no one has been

          5  arrested, nothing is being done, so it gives the

          6  impression that it's okay to do it, and that there

          7  will be a 24-hour reaction of any of this, and then

          8  after that it doesn't matter. And it is incumbent

          9  upon all of us in this City to stand up when we see

         10  this as hate crimes throughout gender, race,

         11  religion, of all sorts, that it's time for all good

         12  people to stand up.

         13                 MR. LEVY: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And I certainly

         15  want to thank you all, and certainly, again,

         16  compliment all of the good work that you all do, and

         17  we certainly appreciate it, and certainly appreciate

         18  you all being here today. Thanks very much.

         19                 MR. LEVY: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay we have

         21  the next panel, John Ryan, Anne Durston, Donald

         22  Mandell.

         23                 Okay, who is first?

         24                 MR. RYAN: My name is John Ryan. I am

         25  with Project Hospitality, an interfaith organization
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          2  on Staten Island, working with these issues

          3  day-by-day. I also served for eight years as Priest

          4  Director in Retreat House on Staten Island, and in

          5  that context dealt with a number of these issues.

          6                 I want to commend the three chairs

          7  and Speaker Quinn for this opportunity to speak.

          8                 As a pre-note, I had raised the

          9  question that hasn't come up, while we've discussed

         10  the function of sanction correctly and reward, I

         11  would raise the question, how many of these 13 or 14

         12  to 21 year olds are already school dropouts? I

         13  haven't heard that raised. And this is something I

         14  wish to speak to because we've been sponsoring an

         15  organization called "Eye Openers," on Staten Island

         16  for the last four years, and 14 to 20, 22 year olds,

         17  different racial, different religious, different

         18  ethnic backgrounds, a number of whom happen to be

         19  school dropouts.

         20                 It was specifically started to try to

         21  create a positive environment in a climate where

         22  there was tension between some of the traditional

         23  neighborhoods, including a strong African-American

         24  presence, and an emerging ethnic new presence that

         25  was heavily Hispanic.
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          2                 So, between some of the work of the

          3  ministers in the area, Project Hospitality and other

          4  groups, we've been able to have weekly meetings and

          5  events that have tried to both educate outside the

          6  classroom context, to the horror of nooses, the

          7  horror of racial beatings, the horror of all these

          8  things, and do it in a context that people both in

          9  and outside the school context will attend.

         10                 So, I think as the City Council

         11  addresses this issue, we would respectfully

         12  recommend you keep an eye on organizations within

         13  the City that are doing grass work, grassroots work

         14  in these areas.

         15                 We also have going out there

         16  something that I'm sure a number of Councilmanic

         17  districts have, but a clergy leadership organization

         18  designed solely to work on these questions.

         19  Different denominations, different religions will

         20  have their clergy associations, but the one thing

         21  that frequently doesn't meet is a cross ecumenical

         22  lines group that is really trying to address these

         23  issues.

         24                 We obviously work closely with NYPD,

         25  we work closely with a number of schools, but this
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          2  is specifically the clergy getting together with lay

          3  leadership in their different synagogues, mosques,

          4  churches, to try to address some of these issues.

          5                 So, in conclusion, just simply thank

          6  you for what you're doing. I hope this issue really

          7  continues to be at the forefront.

          8                 The November 29th issue will be one

          9  that just has to be loud and clear in the City. We

         10  all know that one incident of this kind is too many,

         11  but when there is a rash it is a true scandal in

         12  this City. And the fact that you've been working on

         13  this for years has been wonderful and as education,

         14  sanction and reward are all important, it's also the

         15  question of wider public awareness.

         16                 The people who do these actions are a

         17  profound tiny minority and we need to say that, but

         18  unless the wider community, including the younger

         19  people coming up, realize the abhorrence of these

         20  issues, we're in trouble. So, the education

         21  function, along with sanction and reward, I

         22  respectfully think is critical.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 MR. MANDELL: I'm Donald Mandell at

         25  the New York State Psychiatric Institute, Columbia
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          2  University, Department of Child Psychiatry. I'm

          3  grateful for this opportunity to have a practice in

          4  an almost empty room to say out loud what I will

          5  write up and submit to you.

          6                 Of course it's necessary, axiomatic,

          7  that we deal with what is, based on what we know.

          8  That's the only thing we can do at the moment. But

          9  when we're talking about hate crimes, we need get no

         10  further than just the word hate, because if you

         11  happen to look in the index, indices of textbooks of

         12  psychiatry or psychology, you won't find much

         13  reference to the word hate. In fact, it's not

         14  considered an illness. It's not studied. And that's

         15  a shame. What we have done at our child psychiatry

         16  epidemiology group at Columbia, a study of the New

         17  York City school children, the affects of the

         18  attacks of 9/11. We've found out a number of things

         19  that was done in cooperation with the New York City

         20  then Board of Education, and with the CDC, and other

         21  collaborators.

         22                 We had a representative sample of

         23  about 8,400 students representing the 1.1 million

         24  students who are in the New York City schools from

         25  all over the City. We found a number of interesting
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          2  facts which spawned the number of studies, one of

          3  which is the transmission of trauma.

          4                 For example, one of our studies,

          5  we're taking evacuees, who successfully got out of

          6  the World Trade Center, interviewing them, an

          7  eligible child, which have to be between the ages of

          8  nine and 14, and a grandparent, not only

          9  interviewing them with a document, but taking

         10  samples from the cheek to analyze DNA, the hormone

         11  cortisol and we're doing functional MRIs of the

         12  evacuee and the child to see if there are some

         13  neurological correlates, structural things, that

         14  might point to how a person might be more or less

         15  vulnerable to trauma.

         16                 Well, hate is hardly studied. We

         17  don't exactly know what we'd look for, but I'm

         18  dedicated now to addressing that issue, as to how is

         19  hate transmitted.

         20                 We talk about parents, we talk about

         21  indoctrination. The thing about education is, you

         22  can teach lies just as easily as you an teach truth,

         23  and you can have people memorize it and take a test

         24  on it. I'll get back to those things.

         25                 So, let me just give you a sentinel
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          2  (sic) event that actually makes it quite fortuitous

          3  that public safety, civil rights, and immigration

          4  are represented in this hearing.

          5                 The event is that New York

          6  Presbyterian Hospital, about 15, 20 years ago I

          7  guess, a surgical resident was killed on Riverside

          8  Drive right around 165th Street. The response was

          9  immediate. Sodium vapor, flood lights, all kinds of

         10  beefed up security. They essentially made it a lot

         11  harder for such a thing to happen.

         12                 On the other hand, they had ignored

         13  multiple incidences of rape to the nurses who live

         14  in that area who would walk home in the dark, and

         15  would be accosted. Again, it's interesting that

         16  public safety, civil rights and immigration, because

         17  most of the nurses had migrated to this country from

         18  other places.

         19                 Well, I was impressed, as I should

         20  be, with the response of the Police Department with

         21  the efforts and with the idea that the way that one

         22  combats these hate crimes is to make the penalty

         23  stiff.

         24                 In fact, education alone seems not to

         25  work, and it may not be entirely relevant, but I
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          2  think it's pretty clear that in England, Scotland

          3  and Wales, they try to teach how important it was to

          4  wear a helmet when you were riding a bicycle or a

          5  motorcycle, and what a risk there would be for

          6  concussion. It didn't work. People ignored that

          7  learning. What caused people to start wearing

          8  helmets was stiff fines if they were caught riding

          9  without one. And that put teeth into it and people

         10  started complying with that law.

         11                 So, I do agree that in fact a penalty

         12  is important. But prosecution has its limits. There

         13  are crimes of hatred going on every single day in

         14  this world. Suicide bombers are blowing up schools

         15  and buildings and assassinating people, and they're

         16  doing it out of hate. And what can you possibly

         17  inflict on them as a penalty when they're willing to

         18  take their own life in enacting this.

         19                 So, we need to know a lot more about

         20  what is hate. We have to know how to educate

         21  properly. Love thy neighbor as thyself hasn't

         22  worked. We don't know how to educate against hate.

         23  And we're kind of afraid of this copycat effect. It

         24  was as long as 1,744 when the German Author and Poet

         25  Girka wrote a book about Wurther. He was a person
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          2  who committed suicide out of spurned love. And

          3  following that, it's documented there was a whole

          4  spathe of suicides. So, we've been kind of afraid to

          5  glamorize or glorify a suicide event, and have

          6  really had some problem with now to address this in

          7  teaching in the schools.

          8                 Therefore, what I'm about, is through

          9  the people that I know, I'm trying to start an

         10  institute or a foundation to combat hate, and to

         11  study it as neuroscience, as education. The

         12  transmission of hatred is no different than the

         13  transmission of anything else. It can be studied. We

         14  don't know it yet. We don't know how. We know some

         15  things. We've said some things about how it's passed

         16  on to prejudice transmitted, but we really don't

         17  know in any deep sense very much about hatred.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you.

         19                 MS. DURSTON: I'm Anne Durston. I work

         20  with the American Friends Service Committee. To my

         21  right is Rumell Bullock. He has also been working

         22  with us since February in reaching out to youth,

         23  particularly those who are involved with violence.

         24                 And the AFSC for the last 90 years

         25  has been working to try and serve the most
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          2  vulnerable populations of our society. We current

          3  work with racial and ethnic minorities with

          4  immigrant groups, with LGBT communities, and for the

          5  last 50 years we've focused our work on the criminal

          6  justice system, working both with incarcerated

          7  individuals and formerly incarcerated individuals.

          8                 The AFSC believes that hate crimes

          9  must be understood within the context of a society

         10  in which violence against vulnerable groups is

         11  systemic, in the forms of racism, homophobia,

         12  misogyny exploitation, economic exploitation, et

         13  cetera.

         14                 As such, we do not simply see hate

         15  crimes as a case of individual bigotry, carried to

         16  pathological extremes, but rather as a tragically

         17  predictable outcome of complex social economic and

         18  demographic tensions that fuels us versus them

         19  antagonisms.

         20                 The public in general, and groups

         21  most targeted for violence, in particular, must have

         22  confidence that not only individuals but

         23  institutions will be held accountable for violence

         24  directed against vulnerable groups.

         25                 We do not enhanced penalties as an
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          2  effective response, particularly when our criminal

          3  justice system reflects and perpetuates societal

          4  imbalances of power, racism, homophobia and misogyny

          5  are rampant within our prison systems.

          6                 Instead, we urge a preventative

          7  response that addresses root causes of hate crimes,

          8  remedying the structures which fuel distrust,

          9  resentment, suspicion and insecurities.

         10                 Such a response would create safe

         11  spaces within communities for dialogue across fault

         12  lines of race, religion, ethnicity, socioeconomic

         13  status and gender.

         14                 Moreover, such a response must pay

         15  attention to not only the victim, but also the

         16  perpetrator. While we must clearly condemn the

         17  behavior, we must acknowledge that these people are

         18  members of our society and even if they do spend

         19  some time incarcerated, will eventually return to

         20  our society.

         21                 Speaker Quinn described New York as a

         22  "city of justice." I think that's an ideal toward

         23  which we continue to strive. She also described us

         24  as a "city of tolerance." I believe we must strive

         25  beyond tolerating members of vulnerable groups, but

                                                            144

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, CIVIL RIGHTS AND IMMIGRATION

          2  rather caring for members of vulnerable groups, not

          3  just when they are the victims of hate crimes, but

          4  consistently.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you.

          7                 MR. BULLOCK: (Not identified for the

          8  record.) Good afternoon, everybody. My

          9  interpretation of everything that was said was that

         10  in order to kind of stop the recent acts of hate

         11  crime that you are going to increase prison

         12  sentences, correct?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: That was some

         14  suggestions that people had.

         15                 MR. BULLOCK: Some suggestions, okay.

         16                 I just wanted to make a statement

         17  that I don't believe that -- before these incidents

         18  we've had hate crimes abroad and locally, so I don't

         19  believe that increasing prison sentences is actually

         20  going to stop the amount of hate crimes. People

         21  don't necessarily go to prison and stop believing in

         22  what they want. They actually get support in prison.

         23  So, I don't believe that our prison system is

         24  actually strong enough to actually enforce these

         25  changes that we're hoping they are going to.
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          2                 And I also wanted to say that, if you

          3  could, what are the statistics of people that

          4  actually go to jail and actually are kind of made to

          5  kind of reinforce their belief about hate crimes?

          6  Like how are they working out now in society versus

          7  from when they entered the prison system, so what

          8  they're doing today. And if that's on a positive

          9  note, then maybe I would support that. But I don't

         10  see how increasing prison would be a justifiable

         11  resource in stopping hate crimes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay. So what

         13  do you suggest?

         14                 MR. BULLOCK: Well, one of the first

         15  things that I heard that I was very supportive was

         16  implementing this into the education system, being

         17  that the level that the ages from 13 to 22 or 21,

         18  that's a very strong recommendation. Probably the

         19  most positive one, because in order for you to keep

         20  kids intertwined in education, you have to keep it

         21  very current. You have to keep it very in style or

         22  fashion as we say today. You know, everything that's

         23  relative to the current issue is what kids want to

         24  learn about. And if a lot of kids are not educated

         25  by hate crime, if they're being taught this
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          2  prejudice at their home, they need to be able to

          3  come to a place where, especially schools, where

          4  they can actually learn everything, they can learn

          5  the right things about different ethnicities and

          6  races. I think that was one of the most positive and

          7  strongest recommendations.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: You had a

          9  suggestion?

         10                 MS. DURSTON: Well, on behalf of the

         11  AFDC, the recommendation was again addressing the

         12  societal imbalances of power, and the ways the

         13  vulnerable groups are actually violated

         14  systematically and not just in cases of hate crimes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I just have one

         16  question to ask.

         17                 In reference to for some reason it

         18  seems as if there is a silence on the part of the

         19  clergy, all in a level of responding to this issue

         20  of anti-Semitism, the noose, a number of things that

         21  I have not seen the establishment of the religious

         22  institutions responding in the manner that I think

         23  that they should be responding to.

         24                 MR. RYAN: Well, before this recent

         25  spate in Staten Island on the weekend of September
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          2  8th, we had 33 faith communities - temples,

          3  churches, synagogues - having what we called a "love

          4  your neighbor weekend." That may sound trite, but 33

          5  pulpits on the Island specifically addressed this.

          6                 Are there some churches that don't?

          7  Sure. There is no question about that. But certainly

          8  the clergy leadership groups that we helped found

          9  about four years ago specifically geared to that

         10  issue. Because you do hear at times a deafening

         11  silence. But, again, Martin Luther King was a

         12  clergyman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And he said

         14  that there was those who were so silent and he put

         15  the clarion call to those who were silent.

         16                 MR. RYAN: You are so right. I heard

         17  him at Montgomery. I'm very old.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay.

         19                 MR. RYAN: Not so old.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Not so old.

         21                 MR. MANDELL: I certainly support the

         22  American Friend Service Committee position that

         23  enhanced penalties is not as effective or as good as

         24  pursuing the root causes. But who knows what these

         25  root causes are?
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          2                 I mean, when the World Trade Center

          3  was attacked, someone offered $10 million to explain

          4  on television to Rudolph Giuliani what were the root

          5  causes that would have prompted people to have done

          6  that. I mean, that wasn't accepted, but that was a

          7  -- we lack the knowledge, and we're trying to find

          8  that out. We're doing a study right now beginning in

          9  New York City to first responders whose kids, on the

         10  interview that I told you about, showed a lot of

         11  mental health deficit, if their parents were

         12  firemen, policemen, EMT workers, and so we're doing

         13  a study just beginning now, both here in the United

         14  States, in New York City, and in Televiv and

         15  throughout Israel, first responders there. Because

         16  those kids know they're under constant threat of

         17  terror attack, and so they're at heightened alert

         18  all the time.

         19                 What does it mean to be under that

         20  kind of stress? In other words, to find the root

         21  causes, we need a lot more information than we have,

         22  and I believe that it's okay to educate if you know

         23  what it is to do.  Sops like, you know, don't do

         24  this, it's not right, are horrendous. And also, if

         25  the United States is to continue to have the moral
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          2  authority that we've had throughout our young

          3  history, then we have to show that there needs to be

          4  justice for all. We really do need to pursue this

          5  for lots of reasons, and I don't think we know how.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, I agree

          7  with you that there is a point that we have to

          8  really look and study it. But one thing is certain,

          9  that these kids in some way have to be taught this.

         10  They were taught this level of hate within our

         11  society, and each and every day, and we have to

         12  begin to combat that with a real sense of the

         13  educational system, teaching true tolerance and

         14  teaching inclusiveness in the real way. I think

         15  that's what we've not seen.

         16                 MR. MANDELL: Amen, and maybe you can

         17  help me to promote that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay. All

         19  right.

         20                 MS. DURSTON: And I just want to add,

         21  too, that we must keep in mind that education

         22  happens so many places beyond the classroom, and I

         23  think that when we're talking about addressing the

         24  systemic structural violences against vulnerable

         25  groups, we're talking about educating our young
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          2  people by the example that we're putting forward as

          3  adults.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, I agree

          5  with you. But education at the home and education at

          6  the school and what's reinforced at school, and when

          7  you look at some of those textbooks and what's

          8  reinforced on the television, has a lot to do with

          9  it.

         10                 Because one of the things that was

         11  just glossed upon, in that age group there is a

         12  level of majority of the ethnicity that participates

         13  in this as well that no one talked about.

         14                 So, when we looked at it age-wise,

         15  there's a level of ethnicity that's high in this

         16  participation that we have to address that issue

         17  that no one wants to talk about, that that's what

         18  we're looking at, that these kids and who they are,

         19  white ethnics, in terms of doing this, and that has

         20  not been focused. And I think had it been the

         21  opposite, you would have had people turned in for

         22  doing what they did.

         23                 Go ahead.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I don't have

         25  anything to add. You know, except for the fact that
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          2  I applaud you folks for coming in and testifying

          3  here. Hate crime is something that we all, whether

          4  we are between the age of 13 and 21, or whether we

          5  are 96, we should be talking about it so that people

          6  can know and understand. And I think education is

          7  one of those things that we can really get the

          8  message out there.

          9                 Increasing the penalties is one way

         10  of deterring it, yes, but the majority of folks who

         11  are involved in hate crimes, it's because of lack of

         12  knowledge, and because they may gain the wrong

         13  knowledge from their home, and may not even

         14  understand that it's called a hate crime until

         15  they're charged with a hate crime, some of the

         16  things that they have done.

         17                 So, we need to really go out there,

         18  do outreach and do what we call educating ourselves

         19  and educating the folks that are around us so that

         20  they don't do these types of things.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I want to thank

         22  all of you for coming in. I certainly agree that we

         23  need to do a lot of these things on the grassroots

         24  level, because that's how we have to travel in this

         25  venture, because there are a lot of the kids who are
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          2  dropouts, who participate in this, and I think that

          3  we really need to focus on this issue, and if we

          4  took a true assessment of what had to be done, we

          5  could deal with this issue, and that's my concern is

          6  that we're not, because had it been the other way

          7  around, well, that's another story.

          8                 Thanks a lot. I'll talk about it

          9  later. Thank you very much.

         10                 This meeting is now adjourned.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 2:23 p.m.)
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